Acta Biomaterialia 73 (2018) 64-80

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Acta Biomaterialia

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/actabiomat



**Review** article

## Therapeutics incorporating blood constituents

## Phapanin Charoenphol<sup>a,\*</sup>, Katie Oswalt<sup>a,b</sup>, Corey J. Bishop<sup>b,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Mechanical Engineering, Texas A&M University, Mechanical Engineering Building, 202 Spence St., College Station, TX 77843, USA <sup>b</sup> Department of Biomedical Engineering, Texas A&M University, Emerging Technologies Building, 101 Bizzell St., College Station, TX 77843, USA

## ARTICLE INFO

## ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 28 November 2017 Received in revised form 1 February 2018 Accepted 28 March 2018 Available online 5 April 2018

Keywords: Blood substitutes Blood mimicry Blood cell-derived Blood transfusion Biomimetic Drug delivery Blood deficiency and dysfunctionality can result in adverse events, which can primarily be treated by transfusion of blood or the re-introduction of properly functioning sub-components. Blood constituents can be engineered on the sub-cellular (i.e., DNA recombinant technology) and cellular level (i.e., cellular hitchhiking for drug delivery) for supplementing and enhancing therapeutic efficacy, in addition to rectifying dysfunctioning mechanisms (i.e., clotting). Herein, we report the progress of blood-based therapeutics, with an emphasis on recent applications of blood transfusion, blood cell-based therapies and biomimetic carriers. Clinically translated technologies and commercial products of blood-based therapeutics are subsequently highlighted and perspectives on challenges and future prospects are discussed.

## Statement of significance

Blood-based therapeutics is a burgeoning field and has advanced considerably in recent years. Blood and its constituents, with and without modification (i.e., combinatorial), have been utilized in a broad spectrum of pre-clinical and clinically-translated treatments. This review article summarizes the most up-todate progress of blood-based therapeutics in the following contexts: synthetic blood substitutes, acellular/non-recombinant therapies, cell-based therapies, and therapeutic sub-components. The article subsequently discusses clinically-translated technologies and future prospects thereof.

© 2018 Acta Materialia Inc. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

Introdu	ıction	65
Synth	netic blood substitutes	65
1.1.	Current status of natural blood product transfusion.	65
1.2.	Synthetic products for oxygen delivery	65
2. Acellular/Non-recombinant therapies		
2.1.	Immune applications – convalescent blood products	67
2.2.	Blood clotting applications	67
2.3.	Blood-derived miRNA biomarker applications.	67
2.4.	Therapeutic extraction process of blood constituents	67
2.5.	Orthopedic and arthritis applications	67
Cellul	lar-based therapies	67
3.1.	Current status of cellular- and subcellular-based targeted drug delivery	68
3.2.	Erythrocytes	69
3.3.	Leukocytes	69
	3.3.1. Leukocytes with cargo	69
	3.3.2. Leukocytes without cargo	70
3.4.	Thrombocytes	70
3.5.	Exosomes	70
	Introdu Synth 1.1. 1.2. Acelli 2.1. 2.2. 2.3. 2.4. 2.5. Cellu 3.1. 3.2. 3.3. 3.4. 3.5.	Introduction         Synthetic blood substitutes         1.1. Current status of natural blood product transfusion.         1.2. Synthetic products for oxygen delivery         Acellular/Non-recombinant therapies.         2.1. Immune applications – convalescent blood products.         2.2. Blood clotting applications.         2.3. Blood-derived miRNA biomarker applications.         2.4. Therapeutic extraction process of blood constituents.         2.5. Orthopedic and arthritis applications         Cellular-based therapies         3.1. Current status of cellular- and subcellular-based targeted drug delivery .         3.2. Erythrocytes.         3.3.1. Leukocytes with cargo .         3.3.2. Leukocytes without cargo         3.4. Thrombocytes .         3.5. Exosomes .

\* Corresponding authors.

E-mail address: coreyjbishop@tamu.edu (C.J. Bishop).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2018.03.046 1742-7061/© 2018 Acta Materialia Inc. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.





4.	Biomir	metic-based therapies	. 70
	4.1.	Challenges of synthetic drug carriers	. 70
	4.2.	Preparation of biomimetic carriers	. 71
	4.3.	Erythrocyte membrane-derived particles	. 71
	4.4.	Leukocyte membrane-derived particles	. 72
	4.5.	Thrombocyte membrane-derived particles	. 73
	4.6.	Exosome membrane-derived particles	. 74
5.	Potent	tially clinically impactful technologies	. 74
	5.1.	Blood replacement for oxygen delivery	. 74
	5.2.	Genetically unmodified therapeutic agents within whole blood	. 74
	5.3.	Leukocyte-based carriers	. 74
	5.4.	Erythrocyte-based carriers	. 75
6.	Future	directions and conclusion	. 75
	6.1.	Challenges of cargo release	. 75
	6.2.	Challenges of automation	. 76
	Refere	ences	. 76

## Introduction

Bloodletting likely originated in ancient Egypt, as it was thought the act removed the illness [1]. Leeches have been used to help facilitate the bloodletting process [2]. In regards to blood transfusion, the first occurred around 1630 and the first successful blood transfusion was accomplished in 1665 in England. Blood transfusions are helpful for replacing needed red blood cells (RBC)s, for delivering anti-thrombotic clotting therapeutics and neutralizing antibodies. Before the 1970s, risks of transfusion involved infectious diseases [3] such as hepatitis B/C or HIV, and risks for cancer [4] (i.e., non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) [5] and leukemia). With today's technology, the probability of having issues with blood transfusions involving blood typing, and Rh compatibility is highly unlikely when using appropriate measures. For example, the probability of contracting HIV is approximately 1 in 1 million [6]. Today, the following are generally screened for protecting transfusion recipients: HIV, hepatitis B, hepatitis C, human Tlymphotropic virus, syphilis, ABO/RhD, and other antibodies (i.e., against cytomegalovirus (CMV), hemoglobin (Hb)s, malaria).

In addition to replacing or supplementing blood and its components due to blood deficiencies and dysfunctionality, blood can be manipulated to exert supplemental therapeutic action or used to aid medical treatments, which are unrelated to natural blood-related mechanisms. This review will discuss: (1) blood-based therapeutics which serve as oxygen delivery vectors; (2) blood constituents which have an intrinsic therapeutic effect itself (i.e., clotting or immune supplementing (non-cell-based)); (3) cellular-based (including subcellular-based) entities within the blood which serve as carriers for endogenous (therapeutics naturally found within blood) or exogenous cargo (not naturally found within blood); (4) biomimetic-based technologies which incorporate blood subcomponents to enhance an endogenous or exogenous cargo's delivery efficiency by avoiding clearance mechanisms or enhancing localization; (5) clinically translated technologies or those which are in the midst of clinical trials; (6) lastly, we will discuss barriers to clinically translating bloodbased technologies and potential future directions.

Due to length limitations, an in depth background discussion of drug delivery is not feasible. We therefore recommend referring to the following nanoparticle- and microparticle-based drug delivery articles: [7–15].

## 1. Synthetic blood substitutes

## 1.1. Current status of natural blood product transfusion

Whole blood transfusions have substantial demand in surgical procedures and in clinical use for treating traumatic injuries, anemia, and bleeding disorders. Prior to blood transfusions, rigorous screening for personal/donor history, serological testing and blood treatments are often required to minimize the risk of disease transmission. Although current blood treatments including pathogen reduction (i.e. RBC irradiation) and leukoreduction techniques have demonstrated a reduction in the donor-recipient infection rate, the efficacy and safety of certain treated blood products can still be compromised. For instance, the treatment of blood plasma and platelet products with amotosalen (which is activated via ultraviolet A light) has successfully resulted in reducing a broad spectrum of threatening pathogens and has also received U.S. FDA approval. However, the safety and efficacy of RBC and whole blood products, receiving S-303 (nucleic acid intercalator)/glutathione and riboflavin/UVB treatments have not been approved and are currently being examined in clinical trials [16]. Similarly, although the leukoreduction treatment can minimize the infection rates by removing pathogens in concentrated white blood cells (WBC)s, this treatment is often reserved for high-risk blood products such as platelet concentrate pooled from multiple donors because of its high cost and statistically marginal benefits [17].

Other issues involve transfusion-related acute lung injury (TRALI) [18] and short shelf life. In regards to short shelf life, RBCs can be stored for 20-40 days under refrigerated conditions and 3-5 days for platelets at room temperature [19]. Such limited shelf life poses difficulties for blood transportation services, particularly to remote areas. Current freeze-dried processes with an addition of stabilizers, e.g. trehalose and other effective cryoprotectants, can partially preserve RBC bioactivity and reduce RBC storage lesions but the RBC functional rate after recovery processes have not yet reached desirable levels [20–23]. Similarly, efforts to extend platelet shelf life such as using additives (i.e., glucose and acetate), utilizing homeostasis-enhancing containers or varying agitation rates during storage are not yet sufficient to suppress platelet storage lesions [24]. Ongoing efforts are seeking for technologies that can minimize issues of cross infection and increase long-term storage of natural blood products.

We recommend referring to the following review for further information regarding synthetic blood substitutes outside the scope of this review article: [25].

#### 1.2. Synthetic products for oxygen delivery

While attempts to resolve the issues associated with natural blood products are ongoing, a parallel interest in developing blood substitutes has rapidly emerged in the past few decades. Unlike natural blood products, blood substitutes pose minimized risks for infection, do not require compatibility or blood type testing and thus would be potentially helpful for any patient. Among blood



Scheme 1. Blood-based therapeutics. (A) Synthetic blood substitutes for oxygen delivery, formulated in the forms of free hemoglobin, polymersome-encapsulated hemoglobin (PEH) and hemoglobin-loaded microgel (RBC-mimicry, prepared by PRINT) [39,40]; (B) Acellular and non-recombinant constituents found within blood used for therapeutics; (C) Living cells delivering therapeutic cargo by intracellular loading (IL) or surface coupling (SC) methods and modulated living cells bearing supplemental therapeutic actions [87,91,215]; and (D) Blood-subcomponents hybridized with other natural or synthetic materials for therapeutic delivery [74,81,163,166,178,181]. Adapted with permission from [39] (Copyright 2017 American Chemical Society); Adapted [40] (Copyright 2011 National Academy of Sciences); Adapted [91] (Copyright 2010 Nature Publishing Group).

components, synthetic plasma and synthetic RBC analogs (Scheme 1A) have made great progress and a few of these formulations have already received clinical approvals from regulatory bodies. The most studied designs of synthetic RBCs are hemoglobin-based oxygen carriers. They facilitate oxygen transport by relying on hemoglobin, which is an oxygen unit carrier for natural RBCs.

Hemoglobin-based carriers were first developed in the form of a free suspension, which is an unpurified mixture of hemoglobin (Hb) monomers and dimers derived from outdated or expired human or mammalian erythrocytes [26]. Due to the instability and natural intrinsic toxicity associated with the erythrocyte sources, many subjects treated with free Hb were reported to experience hypertension and acute renal failure [27,28]. To prevent Hbs' dissociation and increase its efficacy and safety, Hb was later reformulated into a tetrameric conformation, with chemical modifications or microencapsulation (i.e., with liposomes, polymers). Although various formulations of synthetic Hb-based carriers (synthetic RBCs) have been previously approved for clinical use, many were discontinued due to increased risks for death. myocardial infarctions and other serious adverse events without significant clinical benefit [29]. A number of cases of mortality were reported in clinical trials for blood replacement with HemAssist (a diaspirin cross-linked hemoglobin) in severe hemorrhagic shock patients [30] and Polyheme<sup>®</sup> (glutaraldehyde-polymerized hemoglobin) in trauma patients [31]. Currently, although there are no U.S. FDAapproved RBC substitute products for human applications available in the United States, a few formulations are presently used for anemia treatment in animals in the U.S. and Europe (Oxyglobin<sup>®</sup>) [32] and patients in South Africa (Hemopure<sup>®</sup>) [33].

Polymersome-encapsulated hemoglobin (PEH) is a recent formulation of synthetic RBCs. Due to self-assembly capabilities, this formulation facilitates a scaled-up manufacturing process. Although PEH's lifetime is not yet comparable to natural RBC's, PEH can be used for emergent oxygen delivery in cases of refractory hypoxemia for short-term improvements in tissue oxygenation [34]. Due to length constraints, we recommend the following articles of polymersomes, the majority of which is hemoglobin-related: [35–37].

Because the physicochemical properties of RBCs, particularly size, shape, and deformability, significantly influence their unique long circulation times, recent applications of integrating oxygen carrier units within RBC-mimicking particles have emerged [38]. Recent work from the DeSimone research group demonstrates the synthesis of microgel particles using particle replication in non-wetting templates (PRINT) technique. These RBC-mimicking particles have similar size, shape, deformability and oxygen transportability, comparable to natural RBCs (Scheme 1A) [39,40]. To date, there is still a need to improve the efficacy and safety for both natural blood products and blood substitutes. Issues of cross infection and long-term storage of natural blood products, insufficient circulation times and toxicity of synthetic RBCs must be addressed.

## 2. Acellular/Non-recombinant therapies

By way of background, in a healthy state, ~45% of whole blood generally constitutes erythrocytes, leukocytes (<1%), and thrombocytes (<1%); and ~55% of whole blood is plasma. Plasma, in a healthy state, is generally ~92% H<sub>2</sub>O, 7% proteins (i.e., immunoglobulins, clotting factors, albumin (~55% of protein within blood)), and 1% of plasma contains salts, carbohydrates, lipids, hormones, enzymatic cofactors, etc.

The following section encompasses genetically unmodified therapeutics within whole blood (Scheme 1B), excluding living cells (refer to the **Cellular-based therapies** section). This section also includes RNA which is translated into protein or proteins which are mass produced via DNA recombinant technology; the overall protein sequences remain unmodified (exceptions may include histidine tags for purification), however.

#### 2.1. Immune applications – convalescent blood products

Convalescence [41] is the practice of passively administering antibodies using whole blood or plasma from patients who have recovered from an infection or disease of interest. Convalescence was generally used when 1) the technology to mass produce the therapeutic constituent within bacteria or yeast via DNA recombinant methods or 2) when the technology to reliably isolate and purify therapeutic components within blood did not exist. For example, in the 1930s, measles and yellow fever were treated in such a manner [42]. In more technologically advanced times, when convalescence is used, it is because the outbreak is emergent and a therapeutic is needed immediately or the target antigen is unknown. For example, during the Ebola outbreak which began in 2014, whole blood and plasma convalescence was used [43]. The ability to have a therapeutic in such an expedited fashion, although not without its own risks, can be invaluable during needful times.

#### 2.2. Blood clotting applications

Blood clotting factors [44] found within plasma are as follows: fibrinogen (factor I) or von Willebrand Factor (VWF), prothrombin (factor II), Ca<sup>2+</sup> (Factor IV), proaccelerin (factor V), proconvertin (factor VII), antihemophilic factor (factor VIII; lack thereof is hemophilia A), plasma thromboplastin component (factor IX; lack thereof is hemophilia B), Stuart-Prower factor (factor X), plasma thromboplastin antecedent (factor XI), Hageman factor (factor XII), and the fibrin stabilizing factor (factor XIII). Protein replacement therapy for hemophilia has strong roots since 1984 [45]. Methods for exploring subcutaneous routes delivering factors VIII and IX to treat Hemophilia A and B have been reported by many research groups; for example, bolus injections, implanted pumps and hydrogel depots were being used to provide sustained release of these factors in tissues in 1998 [46]. Issues in regards to the formation of inhibitory antibodies against protein replacement therapies have been fully recognized within the past decade [47]. By 2010, methods to help alleviate such issues were being addressed; bioencapsulated coagulation factor IX was delivered to mice for treating hemophilia B, which helped prevent the formation of inhibitory antibodies up to 100-fold against the protein replacement. which helped alleviate risks for fatal anaphylactic reactions in a murine model [48].

To date there are only four gene therapies approved for use by the China FDA, the European Union, and the U.S. FDA. Great efforts for delivering nucleic acids (short interfering RNA, messenger RNA (mRNA), plasmid DNA, etc.) have been taken to treat and potentially cure diseases, particularly for monogenic diseases (i.e., hemophilia) [49,50]. For example, a lipid-nanoparticle-based system delivered factor IX mRNA for a protein replacement therapy using a factor IX-deficient mouse model to demonstrate safety and efficacy [51].

#### 2.3. Blood-derived miRNA biomarker applications

Although the sequence of micro RNA (miRNA) itself could be genetically unmodified and still have therapeutic value, miRNA is generally mass-produced using DNA recombinant techniques. miRNAs can be derived from the blood or blood-derived microvesicles and have been found to have a variety of therapeutic applications, and in some cases biomarker-based applications (Scheme 1B; i.e., cardiovascular, renal, cancer [52–55]).

#### 2.4. Therapeutic extraction process of blood constituents

Therapeutic phlebotomy may be indicated for hemochromatosis, polycythemia, and porphyries. Apheresis can be therapeutically performed for plasma (plasmapheresis) due to auto-immune complications (i.e., plasma exchange), or for leukocytes (leukapheresis) which is at times indicated for patients with acute myeloid leukemia which causes abnormally high levels of white blood cells. Of note, there are also other indications for extracting entities within the blood which are pathogenic. For example, although outside the scope of this review article, the inactivation of bacteria, viruses, or contaminating leukocytes from a plasma transfusion may provide therapeutic benefits.

#### 2.5. Orthopedic and arthritis applications

At times, orthopedic injuries may require the promotion of angiogenesis, collagen synthesis, and cell proliferation, which can be accomplished using platelet-rich plasma (PRP) [56]. PRP is also capable of inhibiting inflammation and has been used for osteoarthritis applications [57]. Despite literature demonstrating that there are positive effects, this is a controversial topic which is outside the scope of this review article; we recommend the following article for further information: [58].

## 3. Cellular-based therapies

Erythrocytes, leukocytes and thrombocytes are blood components that are implicated in homeostasis and pathological progression. These blood cells possess inherent immune biocompatibility, long circulation, and homing capabilities to specific tissues via chemical and biomechanical cues, providing ideal features as selfdelivery systems. Since the early 1970s, the idea of using blood sub-components as a vehicle to potentially camouflage exogenous antigenic material from the host's immune system have been implemented. Erythrocytes received early attention because of their morphology as a semipermeable elastic sac, lack of nucleus and their relatively higher intracellular loading capacity. Erythrocytes were first used in 1973 to carry enzymes, which when delivered to the reticuloendothelial system (RES), had a therapeutic effect for treating Gaucher's disease [59]. To date, a wide range of blood components, including but not limited to erythrocytes, leukocytes, thrombocytes, and exosomes, have been used as delivery systems for endogenous and exogenous agents such as: peptides, viruses, plasmid DNA, short interfering RNA (siRNA), and imaging probes for numerous applications (Tables 1-3). This section will discuss recent therapeutic applications of cellular-based (leukocytes) and subcellular-based (erythrocytes, thrombocytes, exosomes) delivery systems. If interested, detailed information on a history and a vast body of literature (before 2010s) on this subject

#### Table 1

Applications of erythrocyte-based delivery systems (Au: gold; Dox: doxorubicin; ICG: indocyanine green; IL: intracellular drug loading; NIR: near-infrared; PTX: paclitaxel; SC: surface coupling; USPIO: ultrasmall paramagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles).

Cargo	Applications	Studies	Refs
Loading & Release: Proofs of Concept Nanoparticles (SC)	Targeted delivery to lung endothelium	in vivo (mice)	[74]
Systemic Therapy L-asparaginase enzyme (IL) Thrombomodulin Prodrug (SC) Fasudil hypertension drugs (IL)	Treat acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) Treat thromboprophylaxis at the site of clot formation Drug delivery via inhalation for pulmonary artery hypertension	in vivo (mice) in vivo (mice) in vitro, in vivo (rats)	[81] [70,120] [121]
Targeting the Reticuloendothelial System Amphotericin B (IL) Ovalbumin antigen (IL) (model antigen)	Delivery to RES for systemic antifungal treatment Delivery of antigen to antigen-presenting cells to induce immune tolerance in mice	in vitro in vivo (mice)	[80] [122]
Cancer Treatment Iron oxide nanoparticles (IL), anticancer drug (IL), Virosome (SC)	Magnetically guided and virosome-induced intracellular targeting within cancer cells	in vitro	[83]
5-Fluorouracil (IL)	Prolonged survival of hepatocarcinoma malignant ascites via intraperitoneal administration	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[123]
NIR dye (IL), Dox (IL), RGD cancer targeting peptide (SC)	RGD-targeted and NIR-triggered release for photothermal-chemotherapy combination therapy	in vitro	[84]
Photoporphyrin X (IL) PTX (IL)	Photosensitizers for cancer photodynamic therapy Enhanced oral drug bioavailability with improved intestinal mucosal tissue permeability	in vitro in vitro and in vivo (rats)	[124] [125]
Diagnostics and Theranostics Au nanoparticles (IL) Lanthanide (IL) Iron oxide nanoparticles (IL) Iron oxide nanoparticles & Ce6 (SC) and	Contrast-enhanced tracers for X-ray dynamic imaging of blood flow Highly sensitive MRI contrast agents Loading commercial iron oxide nanoparticles for MRI imaging Theranostics for image-guided and magnetic field-enhanced combination therapy for	in vitro in vivo (mice) in vitro in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[126] [127] [128] [69]
Dox (IL) ICG (IL) USPIO (IL)	cancer Phototheranostic agents for fluorescence imaging and photo-thermal cell destruction MRI imaging for stem cell therapy	in vitro in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[129] [130]

#### Table 2

Applications of leukocyte-based delivery systems (IL: intracellular drug loading; NIR: near-infrared; SC: surface coupling).

Blood Cells	Cargo	Applications	Studies	Refs	
Living blood cells with cargo					
Dendritic cell	Tumor antigen (IL)	Priming T cells to induce tumor suppression	in vitro, ex vivo (mice), in vivo (mice)	[85]	
T cell	Interleukin-15,21-loaded nanoparticles (SC)	Promoting T cell expansion and effector function in adoptive T cell therapy for lung and bone marrow metastases	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[91]	
Macrophage	Nanozyme (IL)	Targeted delivery to the affected brain for neuroinflammation and neurodegenerative disorder treatments	in vivo (mice)	[71]	
Macrophage	Dox-loaded liposomes (IL)	Targeting deep hypoxic regions within tumors for cancer treatment	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[87]	
Macrophage	Iron oxide nanoparticles (IL)	Imaging tumor regions with MRI	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[87]	
Macrophage	Iron oxide nanoparticles (IL)	Targeting and suppressing tumor growth upon NIR exposure (Photodynamic therapy)	in vitro	[90]	
Macrophage	Photodynamic agents (IL)	Delivering cargo to hypoxic regions of tumors	in vitro	[89]	
Whole blood	Melanoma TRP-2 mRNA (IL)	Inducing antigen-presenting cells for anti-tumor response	in vivo (mice)	[131]	
Living blood cells without carg	0				
Dendritic cell	Pulsed with synthetic peptides	Inducing anti-tumor immune response for cancer treatment	in vivo (human, phase II)	[98]	
Dendritic cell	Pulsed with deactivated HIV	Inducing immune response for HIV treatment	in vivo (human)	[95]	
Macrophage	Transfected with plasmid DNA	Inducing anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective properties in cells for treating neuroinflammation and neurodegenerative disorders	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[96]	
Antigen presenting cell (APC) and T cell	Pulsed with a fusion protein (PA2024)	Sipuleucel-T, the first FDA-approved autologous cellular immunotherapy for advanced prostate cancer treatment	in vivo (human, phase III)	[97,99]	

can be found in previously published articles [60–64]. For further information regarding cell-based therapies outside the scope of this review article we would recommend the following: [65].

# 3.1. Current status of cellular- and subcellular-based targeted drug delivery

An increased interest in blood cell-based delivery systems partly stems from the continuing growth of targeted drug delivery approaches and an unmet need of conventional therapy. Targeted drug delivery's objectives aim to improve therapeutic efficacy, reduce drug toxicity and increase patient safety compliance by utilizing drug carriers. In general, an ideal delivery system must be able to 1) navigate the vasculature while avoiding immune recognition, 2) marginate from dense blood flow and preferentially accumulate at the target site, and 3) localize to subcellular compartments or exocytose for further actions [66].

#### Table 3

Applications of thrombocyte- and exosome-based delivery systems (Dox: doxorubicin; IL: intracellular drug loading; PTX: paclitaxel; SC: surface coupling; siRNA: short interfering RNA).

Cargo	Applications	Studies	Refs
Thrombocytes			
Dox (IL)	Targeted delivery to circulating tumors	in vitro	[101]
Dox (IL)	Targeted delivery to lymphoma	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[102,104]
Thrombin-activatable prodrug (SC)	Targeted delivery to new thrombus formation	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[100]
Exosomes			
Dox (IL)	Targeted delivery to tumor cells	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[132]
PTX (IL)	Targeted delivery to tumor cells	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[133]
Cisplatin (IL)	Targeted delivery to tumor cells	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[134]
Catalase (IL)	Delivery of enzymes to treat Parkinson's disease	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[135]
siRNA (IL)	Delivery of siRNA against BACE1 mRNA to treat Alzheimer's disease	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[136]

Blood cells possess features of ideal targeted delivery systems. They have been successfully utilized to carry and deliver diverse endogenous and exogenous cargo and have been successfully engineered to exhibit desired therapeutic functions for various diseases such as cancer, neurodegenerative disorders, and infection (Tables 1–3). Notable features of blood cell-based carriers include protecting cargo from inhibitors and immune clearance, and redistributing cargo such that their exposure to non-target sites can be minimized [67]. For instance, by coupling plasminogen activators to the erythrocyte surface, the therapeutics were redistributed to the center of the vasculature, preventing it from adhering to the vascular wall. This altered functional profile can help prevent bleeding, a common side effect associated with thrombosis treatment [68].

Due to attractive features of blood cell-based delivery systems, research in this field have rapidly and continuously been burgeoning. Most existing works have demonstrated therapeutic utilities of cell-based delivery systems both in vitro and in vivo settings. Although a safety analysis of the carriers remains limited, it seems there is an inverse relationship between the functional richness and safety [69–71]. For example, erythrocytes appear to be the safest carriers but they have limited biological functionality, while leukocytes and thrombocytes are rich in functionality but safety and control can be issues. Although erythrocyte-based carriers are the most established area among other blood components because of their abundance, long lifespan, and claim to being the safest carrier, there can be negative consequences. For example, RBC damage, including hemolysis caused by activation of complement and the RES, vascular occlusion caused by adhesive RBCs, and kidney failure have been reported [72]. Thus, comprehensive analysis of biodistribution, biocompatibility (i.e. resistance to osmotic stress, mechanical and complement insults), pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, trafficking and crosstalk with innate cells of both cell-based delivery systems and cargo deserve more attention [73]. In some applications such as cancer therapy, a long-term study with repeated administration would also need to be evaluated because patients can develop hypersensitivity to therapeutics by producing anti-drug antibodies upon multiple dosages.

## 3.2. Erythrocytes

Erythrocytes deliver oxygen to tissues via blood flow through the circulatory system. They generally are associated with long circulation times ( $\sim$ 3 months) and do not extravasate from circulation until they are removed by degradation via the RES. The innate functions of erythrocytes enable the utility of erythrocyte-based carriers for RES delivery (by using modified carriers), targeting circulating pathological mediators, or targeting entities localized within the bloodstream. Related functionality may include endeavors to control blood fluidity or to manipulate coagulation.

Erythrocytes can carry cargo within their intracellular compartment or coupled to their surface membrane [74–79]. Hypotonic loading and electroporation are primarily the processes used to entrap payload within erythrocytes. These approaches, however, have been reported to be associated with a loss of hemoglobin and compromised membrane integrity [75,80]. These morphological changes could potentially impair erythrocyte biological functionality in oxygen transport, and render them more susceptible to RES clearance. Research has shown that using membrane permeable peptides to aid cargo entrapment or coupling drugs to the erythrocyte surface can bypass the issues related to intracellular loading [81]. Nevertheless, careful considerations must still be taken to minimize RBC disturbance. Improper loading and use of nonspecific cross-linking agents have been shown to cause RBC damage [63]. The Muzykantov group has conducted comprehensive studies on RBC surface coupling techniques. They demonstrated that monovalent affinity fusion proteins could aid the payload capacity to safely attach entities on the surface of circulating erythrocytes in vivo without compromising biocompatibility [70,82]. The in vivo loading is a favorable approach as it eliminates issues associated with ex vivo manipulation, blood transfusion and blood transmission processes.

Erythrocyte-based systems have been shown to leverage innate cellular functions, exhibiting prolonged circulation lifetimes by avoiding immune clearance. The encapsulated agents can be released by slowly diffusing through the cell plasma membrane or eventually released by cell degradation [64]. Cargo coupling to the erythrocyte surface is accessible and easier in terms of control-ling the release compared to the encapsulated counterpart. However, it should be reserved for nontoxic drugs that will not cause adverse effects when interacting with other blood cell components. For further enhancement of localizing erythrocytes, modifications of erythrocyte membranes with targeting ligands have been used, in addition to using tissue-penetrating and magnetic fields for cancer treatment [83,84]. Currently, erythrocyte-based carriers have been mainly used for systemic diagnosis, systemic therapy, and cancer treatment (Table 1).

#### 3.3. Leukocytes

#### 3.3.1. Leukocytes with cargo

Leukocytes are generally designated as a delivery system for two main purposes: targeting and immune modulation. Leukocytes can serve as a vehicle to deliver cargo to specific cells [85] or diseased sites [71,86–90] for developing therapeutics for cancer and chronic inflammatory disorders, as leukocytes are implicated in the development of such diseases (Table 2). For example, macrophages were exploited to facilitate protein drugs across the blood brain barrier to increase protein bioavailability within the brain [71,86]. Dendritic cells (DC)s can present the loaded anti-tumor antigens to endogenous antigen presenting cells and subsequently activate T cells for generating anti-tumor immunity [85]. In the field of cancer immunotherapy, adjuvants loaded on expanded T cells can provide continuous pseudo-autocrine stimulation to enhance the therapeutic impact of the adoptive T cell therapies [91].

Leukocytes may carry cargo via intracellular encapsulation or conjugated/non-conjugated cell-surface coupling (Scheme 1C). The intracellular encapsulation may be accomplished via electroporation in hyperosmotic loading buffers, which causes an influx of water. Generally electroporation is accomplished in an ex vivo context. The resealing of the cell membranes post-electroporation is a passive process. Preparation of cargo hitchhiking can be performed in vivo, thus reducing concerns related to ex vivo manipulation such as limited shelf life and blood-borne infections during the loading and reinfusion processes [92]. Certain pathogens such as Mycoplasma haemofelis also employ surface coupling techniques to circulate inside mammals by hitchhiking on erythrocyte surfaces [93]. The design of cargo used for cell surface coupling, particularly for leukocyte hitchhiking, is challenging because it requires precise controls over size, shape and mechanical properties to avoid selfinternalization. Regardless of the delivery method, modifying living cells with payloads can cause cellular disruption and cellular malfunctions in some cases [92], possibly causing limitations with cell trafficking, which is one of the premises behind the use of leukocytes. Careful consideration of the cargo loading capacity is also necessary as the nanoparticle concentration on cell membranes has been reported to correlate with cell toxicity [73].

#### 3.3.2. Leukocytes without cargo

Cell-based immunotherapy is an approach that utilizes engineered immune cells, which can be primed *a priori* to defend the body against diseases. Generally, immune cells can be modified ex vivo with immunomodulators such as interleukins and cytokines (Scheme 1C). After transferring into patients, the primed cells can perform as therapeutic cells without cargo to induce patients' endogenous immune systems to exert amplifying or suppressing immune responses against a target disease. Cell-based immunotherapies for cancer and chronic-inflammatory disorders have been explored thoroughly [94–99] (Table 2). Several adaptive immunotherapies are currently underway in clinical trials (see Section 5). Sipuleucel-T has received the first FDA approval as an autologous cellular immunotherapy for treating advanced prostate cancer [97,99].

#### 3.4. Thrombocytes

Comparing to other blood sub-components, using thrombocytes as delivery systems is still an evolving area. Since the primary functions of thrombocytes involves homeostasis and thrombosis, thrombocyte-based delivery systems have potential uses in many conditions associated with damaged vasculature, including: cancer, thrombosis, chronic-inflammatory disorders, and trauma (Table 3). Thrombocytes coupled with thrombin-activatable prodrugs have been demonstrated to selectively lyse new thrombi without disrupting preexisting hemostatic clots [100]. This finding provided a promising avenue for thrombosis treatment with reduced risks of hemorrhage in damaged blood vessels. Likewise, thrombocyte-based carriers are particularly attractive for treatments against metastatic cancer due to recent findings of thrombocyte implications in cancer cell dissemination [101–104].

## 3.5. Exosomes

Exosomes are of specific interest for their potential applications for diagnosing diseases and drug delivery (Table 3) [217].

Exosomes are known to contain proteins, nucleic acids, lipids, and other cellular components [105,106]. This material provides information about the originating cell as well as the surrounding environment of the cell. Information gained from these vesicles can then be applied towards disease detection and possibly treatment. Recently, research has shown that exosomes are capable of detecting signs of Alzheimer's disease up to 10 years earlier than traditional diagnostic methods [107,108]. Circulating exosomes contained high levels of proteins that are known to accumulate before the onset of Alzheimer's disease. This technology allows opportunity for preventative treatment for high-risk patients that could help prevent the onset of the disease. Research has also found miRNA markers inside exosomes unique to different types of cancer useful for diagnostic purposes [106]. Exosome analysis provides a non-invasive alternative to cancer diagnosis and monitoring. Exosome applications for drug delivery are also being investigated [109]. Exosomes are naturally occurring and therefore relatively biocompatible, have natural specificity for different cells, possess the ability to penetrate tissue, and are stable for relatively long periods. These characteristics provide a strong basis for designing targeted delivery vesicles.

While the potential benefits of exosomes could drastically improve the manner in which diseases are diagnosed and treated, the technology needs greater refinement. Although specific and non-specific cellular uptake of exosomes has been demonstrated [110] in certain cases, differing findings may be a result of inconsistent experimental procedures, as well as indicative of differences in tropism. Additionally, exosome populations exhibit diverse compositions [106]. This leads to difficulty in isolating and characterizing exosomes. Consequently, use of inconsistent delivery vesicles for therapeutics introduces concerns of efficacy and safety. Other complications arise from animal model data which do not translate into humans. For example, exosomes are known to have crossed the blood-brain barrier in a mouse model [111], but these experiments have not translated to humans. Further investigation is needed to determine the therapeutic potential of exosomes.

Exosome-mimetics are currently being investigated as natural exosomes are not easily isolated, depending on the source, and can be costly and time consuming. It has also been theorized that exosome-mimetics can be produced by combining individual subcomponents [112]. Depending on the entity of interest, ensuring the proper directionality of the constituents can be challenging. Furthermore, it is also unknown in some cases which components of cell membranes are required for an intended function of interest. Current methods produce exosome-mimetics directly from cell membranes. Exosome-mimetics derived from monocytes and macrophages have been created by extrusion of cells through a membrane [113] or by slicing cells via blades in microfluidic channels [114]. The cells can be suspended in a solution containing the intended cargo so that the cargo is encapsulated when the membrane fragments reform or they can be loaded with miRNA, siRNA, or plasmid DNA via electroporation.

Due to length restrictions, we would recommend the following articles in regards to nucleic acid delivery via extracellular vesicles for the interested readers: [115–119].

## 4. Biomimetic-based therapies

#### 4.1. Challenges of synthetic drug carriers

In the last few decades, the utility of synthetic carriers for drug delivery has been flourishing. There have been numerous efforts to develop synthetic delivery systems that can overcome physiological barriers and provide greater therapeutic outcomes compared to conventional systemic delivery, such as intravenous routes.

Examples include studies exploring the interplay among physicochemical properties of delivery systems, hemodynamics and hemorheology, as well as delivery efficacy and safety [137,138]. However, to date, only a handful of these delivery systems have made it to the clinics. The inefficacy of existing delivery systems may be attributed to clearance, poor transportation via blood flow (i.e., solubility issues), and the limited capacity for intracellular trafficking [139]. As navigating the vasculature with sufficient circulation time is the first required process for delivery systems, early work has primarily focused on increasing carrier circulation times. A standard technique of which is to modify the carrier surface with polyethylene glycol (PEG). Due to PEG's capability to generate a stable hydration protective layer that resists protein adsorption and delay carrier clearance [140], several PEGylated therapeutic formulations have been broadly used in the clinics [141]. However, recent findings have revealed that patients who receive repeated delivery of PEGvlated medications can develop antibodies against PEG, which could lead to accelerated blood clearance, loss in therapeutic efficacy and ultimately increased undesired adverse events [142-145]. Due to the increasing use of PEG in various consumer products including cosmetic and food additives, about 25% of healthy research participants have also been found to have generated antibodies against PEG, even before the treatment [146]. The pre-existence of anti-PEG immunity has further brought complications to the treatment with PEGylated medications.

To avoid the elicited polymer-specific antibodies, alternative materials capable of forming stealth layers without developing immunity has been adopted. This includes a super-hydrophilic zwitterionic material and CD47, a natural marker of self-ligands, presented on erythrocytes. Drug carriers modified with such components have been shown to reduce macrophage engulfment, avoid clearance significantly better than PEG-counterparts, and more importantly, not trigger the polymer-specific antibodies [147–150]. Although the discovery of PEG-alternatives have demonstrated promising outcomes in the preclinical development stage, the fabrication process in which carriers are synthesized and modified with various ligands (namely the bottom-up process) are commonly associated with non-homogenous surface modifications and expensive production costs [151,152].

To advance the utility of drug delivery systems toward high efficacy and safety, recent efforts have attempted to generate biomimetic carriers, a hybridization of synthetic carriers and cellular-derived membranes prepared from top-down processes. These hybridized carriers simultaneously exploit inherent native biological functions of host cells displayed by cell-derived components and controllability over formulation, storage and utilization associated with synthetic particles. To date, biomimetic carriers derived from various sources [134,153–156] such as blood cells, exosomes, stem cells and bacteria have been gaining considerable attention in biomedical communities. In this section, we will discuss recent applications of biomimetic delivery systems that were derived from erythrocytes, leukocytes, thrombocytes, and exosomes (Table 4).

## 4.2. Preparation of biomimetic carriers

Biomimetic carriers (Scheme 1D) derived from erythrocyte and leukocyte membranes are generally formulated by integrating the derived cellular membranes extracted by hypotonic lysis solution with the synthetic particles through mechanical extrusion [157– 164], as can be seen in Fig. 1. Thrombocyte-derived particles can be prepared by fusing thrombocyte-derived membrane isolated by a repeated freeze-thaw process with synthetic particles using sonication [151,165,166]. A few research endeavors have thoroughly characterized the coated cellular membrane on biomimetic carriers. They found that the carriers typically inherit homogenous coatings of lipid membranes and membrane-associated proteins anchored with the right-side-out conformation (Fig. 2A) [159] and at the density comparable to the cell source [160,167]. The stability of proteins can also be enhanced by modifying the particle surface with carboxylic end groups before the membrane coating process. The interaction of the carboxylic groups and amine groups of proteins can form amide linkages, which further strengthen the protein stability [161]. In addition, the choices of protein components coating the biomimetic carriers can be controlled by isolating processes and selectively integrating the proteins of interest in the particles [161].

#### 4.3. Erythrocyte membrane-derived particles

Erythrocyte membrane-derived particles have been primarily explored for cancer drug delivery and detoxification. Coating synthetic particles with erythrocyte-derived membranes have been shown to circumvent particles from macrophage uptake in vitro [157,158], improve their in vivo residence time compared to PEG polymer (Fig. 2B and C) [159,162], avoid eliciting immune responses, and prevent the accelerated blood clearance phenomenon [148]. The prolonged circulation of erythrocyte-derived particles is likely responsible by CD47 and complement inhibitors (DAF, CD59 and CR1), which play a significant role in complement regulation and the clearance of immune complexes [168].

To facilitate specific tissue targeting, the derived particles can be modified with exogenous ligands. Using a simple lipid insertion technique or linkages such as streptravidin-biotin [70,81,82], cancer-targeting moieties (i.e., folate and AS1411 aptamer, RGD, EpCam, CDX peptide) and protective complement regulatory proteins could be functionalized on the carriers [63,81,169–174]. Incorporating the targeted particles with a photosensitizer can serve as a photodynamic agent for cancer treatment. Similarly, incorporating the targeted particles with oxygen carrying compounds can facilitate oxygen transportation to hypoxic tumors, which has been shown to improve treatment efficiency and increase the survival rate of tumor-bearing mice [175]. Triggered-release can also be achieved by integrating erythrocyte membranes with pH-, ultrasound- or laser-sensitive materials [158,176,177].

Erythrocyte membrane-derived particles can also be utilized as a scavenger decoy, namely a nanosponge, for detoxification treatment. Because of the interaction between erythrocytes with exogenous toxins which can potentially lead to hemolysis, the nanosponges can be used as decoys to preserve endogenous erythrocyte activity by intercepting circulating, broad-spectrum toxins, and other pathological antibodies [178–180]. The movement of nanosponges can be modulated by external sources (e.g. ultrasound [181]) or self-driven (e.g. Janus particles [182]) to increase the toxin neutralization efficiency and decrease adverse events due to hemolysis. Nanosponges can be combined with stimuliresponsive materials carrying therapeutic antibiotics or antivirulence drugs [183,184] or pore-forming toxins for promoting uptake, which can enhance vaccine immunization against bacterial infections [185,186].

Recent work from the Zhang group has advanced such technology further by exploring a facile technique that simultaneously fuses erythrocyte and thrombocyte membranes onto poly(lacticco-glycolic acid) (PLGA) nanoparticles [187]. These hybridized nanoparticles are expected to have superior functionalities compared to single membrane-coated particles. This study provides an avenue to customize cellular coating components, which can exhibit optimal functionalities suitable for a number of applications.

#### Table 4

Applications of biomimetic carriers. (Au: gold; Dox: doxorubicin; Ce6: chlorin e6; ICG: indocyanine green; Mg: magnesium; np: nanoparticle; PEG: polyethylene glycol; PFC: perfluorocarbon; PLGA: poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid); PTX: paclitaxel; TTPP: thiamine pyrophosphate; TRAIL: Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand; UCST: upper critical solution temperature; x: not applicable).

Material Core	Cargo	Ligands	Applications	Studies	Refs
Fruthrocytes					
Cancer Treatment					
PLGA	Gambogic acid	x	Colorectal cancer treatment	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[192]
PLGA	X	Folate.	Cancer cell targeting	in vitro	[169]
		AS1411			1
PLGA	Antigenic peptide,	Mannose	Cancer immunotherapy	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[170]
	Adjuvant MPLA				
Pluronic F127	Photosentizer	Folate and	Photodynamic therapy	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[175]
		TPP			
Chitosan	Dox and PTX	DSPE-	Combination chemotherapy	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[172]
		PEG-RGD			
PLGA	Dox	CDX	Brain cancer-targeted drug delivery	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[171]
		peptide			
Upconversion	х	DSPE-	Tumor imaging	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[173]
nanoparticles		PEG-Folic			
		acid			
Au nanocage	PTX	EpCam	Photothermal and chemical cancer therapy	in vitro	[174]
<b>D</b> 1		antibodies			[400]
Polypyrrole np	X	х	Enhanced photothermal therapy for cancer treatment	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[193]
UCST Micelle	ICG, Dox	x	Chemo-photothermal therapy	in vitro	[194]
PLGA	PFC	x	Relieve tumor hypoxia and enhance radiotherapy	in vivo (mice)	[195]
Albumin	ICG, PFC	x	Photothermal therapy	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[196]
Liposome	Camptothecin	x	Ultrasound-triggered drug release	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[158]
PGSC	PIX Demond CoC	x	pH-sensitive carriers for non-small cell lung cancer therapy	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[176]
Silica	Dox and Ceb	х	Laser-activated theranostics for cancer treatment	in vitro, in vivo (inice)	[1//]
Detoxification					
PLGA	х	х	Clearance of antibody-induced anemia disease	in vivo (mice)	[178]
PLGA	х	х	Clearance of pore-forming toxins	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[185]
PLGA	х	х	Clearance of organophosphate agents	in vivo (mice)	[179]
PLGA + Hydrogel	х	х	Clearance of bacteria pathogens	in vivo (mice)	[180]
PLGA	х	х	Clearance of pore-forming toxins and protect retinas from damage	in vivo (mice)	[197]
Au-Nanowire	х	х	Clearance of toxins via ultrasound-propelled nanomotor	in vitro	[181]
Mg-Janus particle	X	х	Clearance of toxins via water-driven motors	in vitro	[182]
Gelatin	Vancomycin	х	Clearance of bacterial toxins with antibiotic treatment	in vitro	[183]
Hydrogel	Vancomycin	х	Clearance of bacterial toxins with antibiotic treatment	in vitro	[184]
PLGA	Bacterial toxin	х	Toxoid vaccination	in vivo (mice)	[186]
Leukocytes					
Cancer Treatment					
PLGA	Dox	х	Induced cytotoxicity	in vitro	[160]
Silicon	Х		Localized cancer therapy	in vitro and in vivo	[161]
				(mice)	
Au-coated silica	х	х	Localized photothermal therapy	in vivo (mice)	[163,164]
Silica	Dox	х	Localized chemotherapy	in vivo (mice)	[163,164]
Detoxification					
PLGA	х	х	Absorb endotoxins and proinflammatory cytokines for sepsis	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[198]
			management		1
Thrombocutoc			-		
Cancor Treatment					
Silico	v	TDAII	Neutralization of circulating tumor calls and attenuation of	in vitro in vivo (mico)	[151]
Silica	λ	INAL	metastases	in vitro, in vivo (inice)	[151]
Acid_degradable	TRAIL Dox	v	localized supergistic anti-tumor therapy	in vivo (mice)	[180]
Nanogel	IIMIL, DOX	~	Localized synergistic anti-tunior therapy	III vivo (IIIee)	[105]
Nanoger					
Detoxification					
PLGA	Vancomycin	х	Treatment of bacterial pathogens	in vitro, ex vivo (human,	[165]
				rats), in vivo (rats, mice)	11001
PLGA	х	х	Clearance of anti-platelet antibodies for immune thrombocytopenic	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[166]
purpura (11P) treatment					
Erythrocyte & Thrombocytes					
PLGA	х	х	Proof-of-concept to enhance np functionality with hybrid cell	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[187]
			membranes		
Exosomes					
Monocyte or	Cancer drug. RNA/	x	Treatment of cancer and other diseases	in vitro, in vivo (mice)	[113,114]
Macrophage	DNA, protein,		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
1 0	antigen				

## 4.4. Leukocyte membrane-derived particles

Natural surface moieties present on leukocytes can be used for immune evasion and (sub-)endothelial adhesion which are two primary characteristics required for vascular- and cancertargeted drug delivery systems. Equipped with active targeting ligands, a study showed that leukocyte membrane-derived particles outperformed the RBC-counterparts in accumulation within



Fig. 1. Preparation of biomimetic carriers. The process for integrating cellular membranes with synthetic particles to form biomimetic carriers. Reprinted [159] with permission from PNAS.



**Fig. 2.** Characterization of biomimetic carriers. (A) Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) was used to identify membrane-associated protein composition of the nanoparticles; (B) Nanoparticle stability in serum was analyzed using absorbance; (C) Fluorescence of blood samples indicated retention of the nanoparticles at various time points. Reprinted [159] with permission from PNAS.

tumors [164]. This is likely because not all tumors possess increased vessel permeability. Thus, long circulating particles derived from erythrocyte membranes alone without additional targeting ligands are likely more ineffective at accumulating within target sites. In addition to preferentially binding inflamed endothelium, leukocyte membrane-derived particles also inherit other functionalities including: avoiding opsonization which would otherwise cause uptake by the mononuclear phagocyte system; transmigrating into sub-endothelial layers; escaping the endolysosomal degradation pathway; and enabling subsequent release of the cargovia hydrolysis or reduction (i.e., via glutathione) [160,161,163]. It is noteworthy that the ability to avoid the RES of a host is generally considered to be limited to autologouslyderived particles. For example, mouse leukocyte-derived particles generally cannot avoid particle internalization upon interaction with human macrophages after repetitive interactions [161].

## 4.5. Thrombocyte membrane-derived particles

Researchers have begun to explore the utility of thrombocyte membrane-derived particles for detoxification and cancer treatment, in light of findings elucidating crucial implications of thrombocytes with bacteria during infection and between circulating cancer cells during tumor metastasis [103,188]. Thrombocyte membrane-derived particles have been used as a platform to treat immune thrombocytopenic purpura, a thrombocyte disorder causing small blood vessels to clot, which then subsequently causes a low platelet count. The particles were able to preserve circulating platelet activity by delivering antimicrobial drugs to neutralize circulating pathogens and simultaneously acting as a decoy by binding to antiplatelet antibodies to preserve circulating platelet activities [165,166]. In cancer therapy, thrombocyte membranederived particles bearing protein inducing apoptosis (TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL)) and chemotherapeutic medications have been shown to accumulate within solid tumors and exert an anti-tumor effect on circulating tumors, leading to reduced metastatic potential [151,189].

### 4.6. Exosome membrane-derived particles

Therapeutic uses of exosomes are fairly new and still being developed. Exosome-mimetics have been shown to exhibit the same membrane components as their cells of origin [113,114]. This is also the case for naturally produced exosomes, which have shown promise in recent studies. Clinical trials have been performed using cancer drugs or antigens loaded in exosomes to combat cancer cells [112,190,191]. In some studies, known negative side-effects were reduced when compared to free drugs [190], and in others the desired therapeutic effect was observed [112,191]. Treatments for Parkinson's disease and Alzheimer's disease have been investigated using exosomes loaded with enzymes [190] and siRNA [112], respectively. Because others have shown successful treatments using exosome-based therapies, there is a growing interest in this field.

#### 5. Potentially clinically impactful technologies

Several notable formulations of the aforementioned blood products are currently being studied in clinical trials, or have become commercial products.

## 5.1. Blood replacement for oxygen delivery

Considerable efforts in developing blood substitutes have been continuously growing due to current unmet clinical needs associated with natural blood and the great demand in blood transfusion, which is predicted to increase more than 10% in the next decade [199]. Several formulations of RBC substitutes (both hemoglobinbased and PFC-based carriers) were advanced into clinical trials but have been withdrawn primarily due to product safety, concerns for marginal benefits, and the difficulties in storage and preparation [26,200]. PolyHeme®, Hemospan, and pyridoxalatedhemoglobin-polyoxyethylene conjugate (PHP) are examples of hemoglobin-based carriers that had completed phase III clinical trials but were abandoned because of heme-mediated oxidative side reactions [34]. Although currently there is no RBC substitute approved by the FDA for clinical use in humans, Oxyglobin® (glutaraldehyde-polymerized bovine hemoglobin) has been approved for veterinary use in Europe and the U.S. for anemia. Hemopure<sup>®</sup>, a trade name of Oxyglobin<sup>®</sup>, is currently used to treat acutely anemic patients during surgery in South Africa. Perftoran (PFC-based RBC substitutes) has also been approved for clinical use in humans in Mexico and Russia, although adverse events such as pulmonary complications continue to be disclosed in certain cases [38]. Efforts to incorporate current technologies to address unmet clinical needs of blood substitutes for patients have been continued. The previously mentioned PRINT technique allows the synthesis of RBC-mimicking particles that resemble a biodistribution similar to natural RBCs [39,40]. These particles can encapsulate oxygen-carrying units along with other molecules such as reducing agents to prevent unwanted, irreversible hemoglobin reactions. Surface properties of these particles can also be facilely tuned to exhibit controllable oxygen release profiles, similar to natural RBCs. Other physical properties and functionalities of the recent generation of RBC substitutes, such as viscosity and deformability, are currently under investigation in preclinical studies to ensure their suitability as an RBC substitution.

## 5.2. Genetically unmodified therapeutic agents within whole blood

Examples of past or ongoing clinical trials for blood clotting applications using genetically unmodified therapeutic agents derived from whole blood include applications involving: VWF (i.e., Humate-P<sup>®</sup> (NCT00168090), NCT02472665, and NCT02281500), prothrombin (i.e., NCT02777424, NCT00618098), proaccelerin (i.e., AutoloGel® (NCT00762138)), proconvertin (Factor VII) (i.e., NCT01269138, NCT01779921), antihemophilic factor (i.e., NCT02472665), and the fibrin stabilizing factor (i.e., NCT00883090, NCT00945906, NCT00885742). Examples of past or ongoing clinical trials for extracting blood constituents for therapeutic purposes include applications involving: auto-immunity complications (i.e., NCT00359346, NCT01370200), and hemochromatosis (i.e., NCT00509652, NCT00202436). Examples of past or ongoing clinical trials for delivering blood constituents for orthopedic and arthritis applications involve the following clinical trials: i.e., NCT01926327, NCT02239029, NCT02211521. NCT02370420. An anti-factor XI antisense oligonucleotide (ASO) for the prevention of venous thrombosis was published in the New England Journal of Medicine, demonstrating that their factor XI-ASO therapy had the potential to reduce the rate of postoperative thrombosis. They demonstrated this without increased bleeding which is common with the use of conventional anticoagulants (i.e., NCT01713361) [201]. We recommend interested readers to refer to https://clinicaltrials.gov for further information regarding clinical trials.

## 5.3. Leukocyte-based carriers

Research exploring blood cells as carriers in targeted drug delivery or as therapeutics themselves (i.e., for immunotherapy) are actively progressing. The approach of using blood-derived living cell entities as drug delivery carriers have been studied for over a decade. However, the strategy of adopting blood cell-based carriers is relatively new and most of these studies are still in the preclinical developmental stage. Considerable efforts have particularly been devoted for cancer immunotherapy, including cancer vaccines (anti-PD-1/PD-L1) and adoptive cell transfer (i.e., Juno Therapeutics' chimeric antigen receptor T cells) where the immune response is programmed to recognize and effectively treat cancer cells. The first clinical study of a cell-based cancer vaccine was conducted by Hsu, et al. in 1996. The developed vaccine, which was prepared ex vivo by pulsing autologous DCs with tumor specific proteins, successfully demonstrated the stimulation of host antitumor immunity and without significant toxicity observed [202].

Following the first clinical trial, DC-based anticancer immunotherapy have entered the clinics but the majority have failed to proceed beyond Phase II studies [203,204]. Notably, Sipuleucel-T (Provenge<sup>®</sup>) is currently a commercially available vaccine for the treatment of metastatic castration-refractory prostate cancer [97]. Suggested issues responsible for the great failing rate of DC-based products include, but are not limited to, insufficient understanding of the functional heterogeneity of the human DC subset and various barriers that limit T cell proliferation and eradication capacity, namely immune checkpoints [203–205]. The clinical testing of the first adoptive cell therapy (ACT) was in 1988 [206]. Since then, ACT treatments using naturally isolated T cells or genetically engineered T cells have been intensively explored for inducing complete removal of metastatically spreading cells and chemotherapy-refractory cells. Two outstanding trials involving ACT-based technology with genetically modified lymphocytes took place in 2006; the highest response rate of ACT with naturally derived and isolated T cells subsequently took place in 2011. The former study demonstrated that lymphocytes modified with retroviruses which encoded a T cell receptor successfully mediated cancer regression in metastatic melanoma [207]. The latter study utilized autologous tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes along with a lympho-depleting regimen in patients with refractory metastatic melanoma. To date, this latter study demonstrated the highest response rate for durable and complete cancer regression [208]. Though there are no U.S. FDA-approved ACT treatments to date. the advances in gene therapy have enabled the development of gene-modified T cells programmed to target possibly any tumor antigen and has generated promising results for many malignancies in the clinics [209].

## 5.4. Erythrocyte-based carriers

RBCs are a candidate for carrying therapeutics, due particularly to their long lifespan in circulation and intracellular enzymatic activities [210]. A commercially available red cell loader (provided by EryDel) is an automatic high-throughput device that encapsulates cargo within human autologous RBCs [211]. Asparaginaseencapsulated erythrocyte, ERYASP, is commercially available for treating acute lymphoblastic leukemia patients. A non-enzymatic use of this technology involves, EryDex, dexamethasone sodium phosphate (DSP)-loaded within autologous erythrocytes which are prepared by the same device. This is an example of RBCbased products for treating ataxia telangiectasia, a rare neurodegenerative disease, which is currently in phase II clinical trials [212].

The significant advances in nanotechnology and molecular biology have enabled the synthetic components that can mimic both mechano- and chemico-biological properties of blood. With current technology, researchers have begun to fabricate artificial red cells (Fig. 3) that can mimic size, shape and deformability (Fig. 4) [213]. Both artificial blood cells and blood cell-camouflaged carriers are now undergoing preclinical development with promising results.

#### 6. Future directions and conclusion

While advances are being made to improve current blood-based technologies, there are challenges to overcome, including but not limited to the host immune response, cargo release, and automated processes. Here we expound upon future directions involving cargo release and automation.

## 6.1. Challenges of cargo release

One of the technologies being developed to help overcome the obstacle of cargo release from biomimetic carriers focuses on using



Fig. 3. Fabrication of artificial RBCs. Overview of the two techniques used for fabrication of artificial RBCs. Reprinted [216] with permission from PNAS.



Fig. 4. Imaging of synthetic and natural RBCs. Comparison of synthetic RBCs: PLGA particles using electrohydrodynamic jetting (A); layer-by-layer deposition (polyanion and polycation) with core dissolution (B) and mice RBCs (C); scale bars are 5 µm (inlaid: 2 µm). Reprinted [216] with permission from PNAS.

a photosensitive polymer to release a loaded drug when irradiated with a laser [177,194]. More specifically, a method being investigated involves an upper critical solution temperature (UCST) polymer paired with a photothermal agent that generates heat when a laser is applied. As a result of the generated heat, the polymer expands and releases the loaded drug. The UCST polymer is paired with components of RBC membranes to act as a stealth coating and reduce leakage of the drug while circulating. Another method for controlling cargo release, pairs a polymer with a photosensitizer agent that generates reactive oxygen species when irradiated with a laser. These oxygen species then react with the nanoparticle RBC membrane coating (used to increase circulation time and reduce drug leakage) and cell membranes of nearby tumor cells. Destruction of the nanoparticle membrane releases the loaded drug, which can then further destroy tumor cells. Another technology uses graphene nanosponges as drug carriers [214]. The graphene nanosponge was paired with a photothermal agent and loaded with a tumor drug and PFH. When irradiated with a laser, the photothermal agent heats and vaporizes PFH, which releases the tumor drug to the surrounding area. The use of the graphene nanosponges is of interest because they are able to diffuse into the mass of tumor cells and can carry large amounts of drug because of their sponge-like properties. These three developing technologies have yet to be implemented in clinical trials.

#### 6.2. Challenges of automation

Similar devices to EryDel will help with batch-to-batch consistency and control over the formulations of interest. We foresee the development of similar autonomous devices for other blood cellbased therapies and biomimetic carrier applications, which could be highly valuable for personalized medicine applications. For example, information supplied to automated manufacturing devices could be patient-specific and could have a large library of subcomponents at its disposal which were pre-validated. Such autonomous systems would be expected to collect blood from patients, derive blood vesicles, integrate particles with the vesicles and subsequently introduce the formulation back into the same patient for autologous applications or further enable shelfstorage for allogeneic applications.

With continuous efforts, we envision blood-based therapeutics will be one of the next generations of medicine for numerous medical applications.

#### References

- G. Greenstone, The history of bloodletting, British Columbia Med. J. 52 (1) (2010) 12–14.
- [2] A.M. Abdualkader, A.M. Ghawi, M. Alaama, M. Awang, A. Merzouk, Leech therapeutic applications, Indian J. Pharm. Sci. (2013) 127–137.
- [3] F. Bihl, D. Castelli, F. Marincola, R.Y. Dodd, C. Brander, Transfusiontransmitted infections, J. Transl. Med. 5 (2007) 25.
- [4] R. Riedl, E.A. Engels, J.L. Warren, A. Berghold, W. Ricker, R.M. Pfeiffer, Blood transfusions and the subsequent risk of cancers in the United States elderly, Transfusion 53 (10) (2013) 2198–2206.
- [5] R.A. Nelson, A.M. Levine, L. Bernstein, Blood transfusions and the risk of intermediate- or high-grade non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 90 (22) (1998) 1742–1743.
- [6] L.A. Crowder, W.R. Steele, E.P.t. Notari, C.K. Hopkins, J.L. Lima, G.A. Foster, R.L. Townsend, D.E. Krysztof, R.Y. Dodd, S.L. Stramer, Prevalence, incidence, and risk factors of human immunodeficiency virus infection in blood donors in the Southeastern United States, Transfusion (Paris) 57 (2) (2017) 404–411.
- [7] H.M. Abdelaziz, M. Gaber, M.M. Abd-Elwakil, M.T. Mabrouk, M.M. Elgohary, N. M. Kamel, D.M. Kabary, M.S. Freag, M.W. Samaha, S.M. Mortada, K.A. Elkhodairy, J.Y. Fang, A.O. Elzoghby, Inhalable particulate drug delivery systems for lung cancer therapy: nanoparticles, microparticles, nanocomposites and nanoaggregates, J. Control Release 269 (2018) 374–392.
- [8] A.H. Colby, N.H. Oberlies, C.J. Pearce, V.L. Herrera, Y.L. Colson, M.W. Grinstaff, Nanoparticle drug-delivery systems for peritoneal cancers: a case study of the

design, characterization and development of the expansile nanoparticle, Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol. 9 (3) (2017).

- [9] Y. Dai, C. Xu, X. Sun, X. Chen, Nanoparticle design strategies for enhanced anticancer therapy by exploiting the tumour microenvironment, Chem. Soc. Rev. 46 (12) (2017) 3830–3852.
- [10] R.K. DeLong, C.B. Curtis, Toward RNA nanoparticle vaccines: synergizing RNA and inorganic nanoparticles to achieve immunopotentiation, Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol. 9 (2) (2017).
- [11] W. Gao, Y. Chen, Y. Zhang, Q. Zhang, L. Zhang, Nanoparticle-based local antimicrobial drug delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. (2017).
- [12] C. Kinnear, T.L. Moore, L. Rodriguez-Lorenzo, B. Rothen-Rutishauser, A. Petri-Fink, Form follows function: nanoparticle shape and its implications for nanomedicine, Chem. Rev. 117 (17) (2017) 11476–11521.
- [13] T. Kumeria, S.J.P. McInnes, S. Maher, A. Santos, Porous silicon for drug delivery applications and theranostics: recent advances, critical review and perspectives, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 14 (12) (2017) 1407–1422.
- [14] A.J. Moy, J.W. Tunnell, Combinatorial immunotherapy and nanoparticle mediated hyperthermia, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 114 (2017) 175–183.
- [15] J.M. Stewart, B.G. Keselowsky, Combinatorial drug delivery approaches for immunomodulation, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 114 (2017) 161–174.
- [16] V. Salunkhe, P.F. van der Meer, D. de Korte, J. Seghatchian, L. Gutierrez, Development of blood transfusion product pathogen reduction treatments: a review of methods, current applications and demands, Transfus. Apher. Sci. 52 (1) (2015) 19–34.
- [17] A.B. Nathens, T.A. Nester, G.D. Rubenfeld, R. Nirula, T.B. Gernsheimer, The effects of leukoreduced blood transfusion on infection risk following injury: a randomized controlled trial, Shock 26 (4) (2006) 342–347.
- [18] C.C. Silliman, D.R. Ambruso, L.K. Boshkov, Transfusion-related acute lung injury, Blood 105 (6) (2005) 2266–2273.
- [19] D.W. Greening, K.M. Glenister, R.L. Sparrow, R.J. Simpson, International blood collection and storage: clinical use of blood products, J. Proteomics 73 (3) (2010) 386–395.
- [20] J.L. Holovati, M.I. Gyongyossy-Issa, J.P. Acker, Effects of trehalose-loaded liposomes on red blood cell response to freezing and post-thaw membrane quality, Cryobiology 58 (1) (2009) 75–83.
- [21] A.L. Lynch, R. Chen, P.J. Dominowski, E.Y. Shalaev, R.J. Yancey Jr., N.K. Slater, Biopolymer mediated trehalose uptake for enhanced erythrocyte cryosurvival, Biomaterials 31 (23) (2010) 6096–6103.
- [22] A.L. Lynch, R. Chen, N.K. Slater, pH-responsive polymers for trehalose loading and desiccation protection of human red blood cells, Biomaterials 32 (19) (2011) 4443–4449.
- [23] X.L. Zhou, J. Yuan, J.F. Liu, B.L. Liu, Loading trehalose into red blood cells by electroporation and its application in freeze-drying, Cryoletters 31 (2) (2010) 147–156.
- [24] H. Ohto, K.E. Nollet, Overview on platelet preservation: better controls over storage lesion, Transfus Apher. Sci. 44 (3) (2011) 321–325.
- [25] M. Mozafari, A. Ramedani, A. Yazdanpanah, Artificial blood- A game changer for future medicine: where are we today? | OMICS international, J. Blood Disord. Transf. 6 (5) (2015).
- [26] A.I. Alayash, Blood substitutes: why haven't we been more successful?, Trends Biotechnol 32 (4) (2014) 177–185.
- [27] P.W. Buehler, F. D'Agnillo, D.J. Schaer, Hemoglobin-based oxygen carriers: from mechanisms of toxicity and clearance to rational drug design, Trends Mol. Med. 16 (10) (2010) 447–457.
- [28] T.A. Silverman, R.B. Weiskopf, C. Planning, Hemoglobin-based oxygen carriers: current status and future directions, Anesthesiology 111 (5) (2009) 946–963.
- [29] C. Natanson, S.J. Kern, P. Lurie, S.M. Banks, S.M. Wolfe, Cell-free hemoglobinbased blood substitutes and risk of myocardial infarction and death: a metaanalysis, JAMA 299 (19) (2008) 2304–2312.
- [30] E.P. Sloan, M. Koenigsberg, D. Gens, M. Cipolle, J. Runge, M.N. Mallory, G. Rodman Jr., Diaspirin cross-linked hemoglobin (DCLHb) in the treatment of severe traumatic hemorrhagic shock: a randomized controlled efficacy trial, JAMA 282 (19) (1999) 1857–1864.
- [31] S.H. Twaddell, Northfield Laboratories reports results of pivotal phase III trauma study [press release]. <a href="http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20070523005346/en/Northfield-Laboratories-Reports-Results-Pivotal-Phase-III">http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20070523005346/en/Northfield-Laboratories-Reports-Results-Pivotal-Phase-III">http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20070523005346/en/Northfield-Laboratories-Reports-Results-Pivotal-Phase-III">http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/ 20070523005346/en/Northfield-Laboratories-Reports-Results-Pivotal-Phase-III">http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/ 20070523005346/en/Northfield-Laboratories-Reports-Results-Pivotal-Phase-III">http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/ 20070523005346/en/Northfield-Laboratories-Reports-Results-Pivotal-Phase-III">http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/ 20070523005346/en/Northfield-Laboratories-Reports-Results-Pivotal-Phase-III">http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/ 20070523005346/en/Northfield-Laboratories-Reports-Results-Pivotal-Phase-III">http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/ 20070523005346/en/Northfield-Laboratories-Reports-Results-Pivotal-Phase-III">http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/ 20070523005346/en/Northfield-Laboratories-Reports-Results-Pivotal-Phase-III"/>http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/ 20070523005346/en/Northfield-Laboratories-Reports-Results-Pivotal-Phase-III"/>http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/ 20070523005346/en/Northfield-Laboratories-Reports-Results-Pivotal-Phase-III"/>http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/ 20070523005346/en/Northfield-Laboratories-Results-Pivotal-Phase-III"/>http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/ 20070523005346/en/Northfield-Laboratories-Results-Pivotal-Phase-III"/>http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/ 20070523005346/en/Northfield-Laboratories-Results-Pivotal-Phase-III"/>http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/ 20070523005346/en/Northfield-Laboratories-Results-Pivotal-Phase-III"/>http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/ 20070523005346/en/Northfield-Laboratorie
- [32] T. Wood, Biopure Corporation (BPUR) annouces 2007 second quarter financial results. <a href="http://www.biospace.com/News/biopure-corporation-announces-2007-second-quarter/56982">http://www.biospace.com/News/biopure-corporation-announces-2007-second-quarter/56982</a>>, 2007 (accessed July 28.2017).
- [33] J.S. Jahr, M. Moallempour, J.C. Lim, HBOC-201, hemoglobin glutamer-250 (bovine), Hemopure (Biopure Corporation), Expert Opin. Biol. Ther. 8 (9) (2008) 1425–1433.
- [34] Z. Tao, P.P. Ghoroghchian, Microparticle, nanoparticle, and stem cell-based oxygen carriers as advanced blood substitutes, Trends Biotechnol. 32 (9) (2014) 466–473.
- [35] X. Hu, Y. Zhang, Z. Xie, X. Jing, A. Bellotti, Z. Gu, Stimuli-responsive polymersomes for biomedical applications, Biomacromolecules 18 (3) (2017) 649–673.
- [36] S. Wang, F. Yuan, K. Chen, G. Chen, K. Tu, H. Wang, L.Q. Wang, Synthesis of hemoglobin conjugated polymeric micelle: a ZnPc carrier with oxygen selfcompensating ability for photodynamic therapy, Biomacromolecules 16 (9) (2015) 2693–2700.

- [37] L. Zhao, N. Li, K. Wang, C. Shi, L. Zhang, Y. Luan, A review of polypeptide-based polymersomes, Biomaterials 35 (4) (2014) 1284–1301.
  [38] C.L. Modery-Pawlowski, L.L. Tian, V. Pan, A. Sen Gupta, Synthetic approaches
- [38] C.L. Modery-Pawlowski, L.L. Tian, V. Pan, A. Sen Gupta, Synthetic approaches to RBC mimicry and oxygen carrier systems, Biomacromolecules 14 (4) (2013) 939–948.
- [39] K. Chen, T.J. Merkel, A. Pandya, M.E. Napier, J.C. Luft, W. Daniel, S. Sheiko, J.M. DeSimone, Low modulus biomimetic microgel particles with high loading of hemoglobin, Biomacromolecules 13 (9) (2012) 2748–2759.
- [40] T.J. Merkel, S.W. Jones, K.P. Herlihy, F.R. Kersey, A.R. Shields, M. Napier, J.C. Luft, H.L. Wu, W.C. Zamboni, A.Z. Wang, J.E. Bear, J.M. DeSimone, Using mechanobiological mimicry of red blood cells to extend circulation times of hydrogel microparticles, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 108 (2) (2011) 586–591.
- [41] G. Marano, S. Vaglio, S. Pupella, G. Facco, L. Catalano, G.M. Liumbruno, G. Grazzini, Convalescent plasma: new evidence for an old therapeutic tool?, Blood Transfus 14 (2) (2016) 152–157.
- [42] P.J. Lachmann, The use of antibodies in the prophylaxis and treatment of infections, Emergy Microbes. Infec. 1 (8) (2012) e11.
- [43] A. Gulland, First Ebola treatment is approved by WHO, BMJ 349 (2014) g5539.
- [44] N.L. Shah, N.M. Intagliata, P.G. Northup, C.K. Argo, S.H. Caldwell, Procoagulant therapeutics in liver disease: a critique and clinical rationale, Nat. Rev. Gastro Hepat. 11 (11) (2014) 675–682.
- [45] W.I. Wood, D.J. Capon, C.C. Simonsen, D.L. Eaton, J. Gitschier, B. Keyt, P.H. Seeburg, D.H. Smith, P. Hollingshead, K.L. Wion, E. Delwart, E.G.D. Tuddenham, G.A. Vehar, R.M. Lawn, Expression of active human factor-Viii from recombinant DNA clones, Nature 312 (5992) (1984) 330–337.
- [46] S.I. Miekka, T. Jameson, M. Singh, C. Woolverton, H.M. Lin, R. Krajcik, M. MacPhee, W.N. Drohan, Novel delivery systems for coagulation proteins, Haemophilia 4 (4) (1998) 436–442.
- [47] J.H. Wang, J. Lozier, G. Johnson, S. Kirshner, D. Verthelyi, A. Pariser, E. Shores, A. Rosenberg, Neutralizing antibodies to therapeutic enzymes: considerations for testing, prevention and treatment, Nat. Biotechnol. 26 (8) (2008) 901–908.
- [48] D. Verma, B. Moghimi, P.A. LoDuca, H.D. Singh, B.E. Hoffman, R.W. Herzog, H. Daniell, Oral delivery of bioencapsulated coagulation factor IX prevents inhibitor formation and fatal anaphylaxis in hemophilia B mice, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 107 (15) (2010) 7101–7106.
- [49] C.J. Bishop, T.M. Ketola, S.Y. Tzeng, J.C. Sunshine, A. Urtti, H. Lemmetyinen, E. Vuorimaa-Laukkanen, M. Yliperttula, J.J. Green, The effect and role of carbon atoms in poly(beta-amino ester)s for DNA binding and gene delivery, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 135 (18) (2013) 6951–6957.
- [50] C.J. Bishop, B. Abubaker-Sharif, T. Guiriba, S.Y. Tzeng, J.J. Green, Gene delivery polymer structure–function relationships elucidated via principal component analysis, Chem. Commun. 51 (2015) 12134–12137.
- [51] S. Ramaswamy, N. Tonnu, K. Tachikawa, P. Limphong, J.B. Vega, P.P. Karmali, P. Chivukula, I.M. Verma, Systemic delivery of factor IX messenger RNA for protein replacement therapy, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 114 (10) (2017) E1941–E1950.
- [52] K. Kelnar, H.J. Peltier, N. Leatherbury, J. Stoudemire, A.G. Bader, Quantification of therapeutic miRNA mimics in whole blood from nonhuman primates, Anal. Chem. 86 (3) (2014) 1534–1542.
- [53] J.D. Arroyo, J.R. Chevillet, E.M. Kroh, I.K. Ruf, C.C. Pritchard, D.F. Gibson, P.S. Mitchell, C.F. Bennett, E.L. Pogosova-Agadjanyan, D.L. Stirewalt, J.F. Tait, M. Tewari, Argonaute2 complexes carry a population of circulating microRNAs independent of vesicles in human plasma, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 108 (12) (2011) 5003–5008.
- [54] A. Gallo, M. Tandon, I. Alevizos, G.G. Illei, The majority of microRNAs detectable in serum and saliva is concentrated in exosomes, PLoS ONE 7 (3) (2012) e30679.
- [55] Ž. Hu, X. Chen, Y. Zhao, T. Tian, G. Jin, Y. Shu, Y. Chen, L. Xu, K. Zen, C. Zhang, H. Shen, Serum microRNA signatures identified in a genome-wide serum microRNA expression profiling predict survival of non-small-cell lung cancer, J. Clin. Oncol. 28 (10) (2010) 1721–1726.
- [56] Y. Mifune, T. Matsumoto, K. Takayama, S. Ota, H. Li, L.B. Meszaros, A. Usas, K. Nagamune, B. Gharaibeh, F.H. Fu, J. Huard, The effect of platelet-rich plasma on the regenerative therapy of muscle derived stem cells for articular cartilage repair, Osteoarthritis Cartilage 21 (1) (2013) 175–185.
- [57] G.M. van Buul, W.L.M. Koevoet, N. Kops, P.K. Bos, J.A.N. Verhaar, H. Weinans, M.R. Bernsen, G.J.V.M. van Osch, Platelet-rich plasma releasate inhibits inflammatory processes in osteoarthritic chondrocytes, Am. J. Sport Med. 39 (11) (2011) 2362–2370.
- [58] W.K. Hsu, A. Mishra, S.R. Rodeo, F. Fu, M.A. Terry, P. Randelli, S.T. Canale, F.B. Kelly, Platelet-rich plasma in orthopaedic applications: evidence-based recommendations for treatment, J. Am. Acad. Orthop. Surg. 21 (12) (2013) 739–748.
- [59] G.M. Ihler, R.H. Glew, F.W. Schnure, Enzyme loading of erythrocytes, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 70 (9) (1973) 2663–2666.
- [60] A.C. Anselmo, S. Mitragotri, Cell-mediated delivery of nanoparticles: taking advantage of circulatory cells to target nanoparticles, J. Control Release 190 (2014) 531–541.
- [61] M. Hamidi, A. Zarrin, M. Foroozesh, S. Mohammadi-Samani, Applications of carrier erythrocytes in delivery of biopharmaceuticals, J. Control Release 118 (2) (2007) 145–160.
- [62] P. Yousefpour, A. Chilkoti, Co-opting biology to deliver drugs, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 111 (9) (2014) 1699–1716.
- [63] C.H. Villa, D.C. Pan, S. Zaitsev, D.B. Cines, D.L. Siegel, V.R. Muzykantov, Delivery of drugs bound to erythrocytes: new avenues for an old intravascular carrier, Ther. Deliv. 6 (7) (2015) 795–826.

- [64] C.G. Millan, M.L.S. Marinero, A.Z. Castaneda, J.M. Lanao, Drug, enzyme and peptide delivery using erythrocytes as carriers, J. Control. Release 95 (1) (2004) 27–49.
- [65] A. Schaffler, C. Buchler, Concise review: adipose tissue-derived stromal cellsbasic and clinical implications for novel cell-based therapies, Stem Cells 25 (4) (2007) 818–827.
- [66] R.B. Huang, S. Mocherla, M.J. Heslinga, P. Charoenphol, O. Eniola-Adefeso, Dynamic and cellular interactions of nanoparticles in vascular-targeted drug delivery (review), Mol. Membr. Biol. 27 (4–6) (2010) 190–205.
- [67] K. Ganguly, J.C. Murciano, R. Westrick, J. Leferovich, D.B. Cines, V.R. Muzykantov, The glycocalyx protects erythrocyte-bound tissue-type plasminogen activator from enzymatic inhibition, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 321 (1) (2007) 158–164.
- [68] J.C. Murciano, A.A. Higazi, D.B. Cines, V.R. Muzykantov, Soluble urokinase receptor conjugated to carrier red blood cells binds latent pro-urokinase and alters its functional profile, J. Control Release 139 (3) (2009) 190–196.
- [69] C. Wang, X. Sun, L. Cheng, S. Yin, G. Yang, Y. Li, Z. Liu, Multifunctional theranostic red blood cells for magnetic-field-enhanced in vivo combination therapy of cancer, Adv. Mater. 26 (28) (2014) 4794–4802.
- [70] S. Zaitsev, M.A. Kowalska, M. Neyman, R. Carnemolla, S. Tliba, B.S. Ding, A. Stonestrom, D. Spitzer, J.P. Atkinson, M. Poncz, D.B. Cines, C.T. Esmon, V.R. Muzykantov, Targeting recombinant thrombomodulin fusion protein to red blood cells provides multifaceted thromboprophylaxis, Blood 119 (20) (2012) 4779–4785.
- [71] Y. Zhao, M.J. Haney, V. Mahajan, B.C. Reiner, A. Dunaevsky, R.L. Mosley, A.V. Kabanov, H.E. Gendelman, E.V. Batrakova, Active targeted macrophage-mediated delivery of catalase to affected brain regions in models of parkinson's disease, J. Nanomed. Nanotechnol. S4 (2011).
- [72] V.R. Muzykantov, J.C. Murciano, R.P. Taylor, E.N. Atochina, A. Herraez, Regulation of the complement-mediated elimination of red blood cells modified with biotin and streptavidin, Anal. Biochem. 241 (1) (1996) 109– 119.
- [73] D. Pan, O. Vargas-Morales, B. Zern, A.C. Anselmo, V. Gupta, M. Zakrewsky, S. Mitragotri, V. Muzykantov, The effect of polymeric nanoparticles on biocompatibility of carrier red blood cells, PLoS One 11 (3) (2016) e0152074.
- [74] A.C. Anselmo, V. Gupta, B.J. Zern, D. Pan, M. Zakrewsky, V. Muzykantov, S. Mitragotri, Delivering nanoparticles to lungs while avoiding liver and spleen through adsorption on red blood cells, ACS Nano 7 (12) (2013) 11129–11137.
- [75] M. Delcea, N. Sternberg, A.M. Yashchenok, R. Georgieva, H. Baumler, H. Mohwald, A.G. Skirtach, Nanoplasmonics for dual-molecule release through nanopores in the membrane of red blood cells, ACS Nano 6 (5) (2012) 4169– 4180.
- [76] M. Hamidi, P. Rafiei, A. Azadi, S. Mohammadi-Samani, Encapsulation of valproate-loaded hydrogel nanoparticles in intact human erythrocytes: a novel nano-cell composite for drug delivery, J. Pharm. Sci. 100 (5) (2011) 1702–1711.
- [77] G.I. Harisa, M.F. Ibrahim, F. Alanazi, G.A. Shazly, Engineering erythrocytes as a novel carrier for the targeted delivery of the anticancer drug paclitaxel, Saudi Pharm. J. 22 (3) (2014) 223–230.
- [78] G.I. Harisa, M.F. Ibrahim, F.K. Alanazi, Erythrocyte-mediated delivery of pravastatin: in vitro study of effect of hypotonic lysis on biochemical parameters and loading efficiency, Arch. Pharm. Res. 35 (8) (2012) 1431– 1439.
- [79] R. Luo, S. Mutukumaraswamy, S.S. Venkatraman, B. Neu, Engineering of erythrocyte-based drug carriers: control of protein release and bioactivity, J. Mater. Sci. Mater. Med. 23 (1) (2012) 63–71.
- [80] V. Staedtke, M. Brahler, A. Muller, R. Georgieva, S. Bauer, N. Sternberg, A. Voigt, A. Lemke, C. Keck, J. Moschwitzer, H. Baumler, In vitro inhibition of fungal activity by macrophage-mediated sequestration and release of encapsulated amphotericin B nanosupension in red blood cells, Small 6 (1) (2010) 96–103.
- [81] Y.M. Kwon, H.S. Chung, C. Moon, J. Yockman, Y.J. Park, S.D. Gitlin, A.E. David, V.C. Yang, L-Asparaginase encapsulated intact erythrocytes for treatment of acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), J. Control Release 139 (3) (2009) 182– 189.
- [82] S. Zaitsev, D. Spitzer, J.C. Murciano, B.S. Ding, S. Tliba, M.A. Kowalska, K. Bdeir, A. Kuo, V. Stepanova, J.P. Atkinson, M. Poncz, D.B. Cines, V.R. Muzykantov, Targeting of a mutant plasminogen activator to circulating red blood cells for prophylactic fibrinolysis, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 332 (3) (2010) 1022–1031.
- [83] C. Cinti, M. Taranta, I. Naldi, S. Grimaldi, Newly engineered magnetic erythrocytes for sustained and targeted delivery of anti-cancer therapeutic compounds, PLoS One 6 (2) (2011) e17132.
- [84] X.Q. Sun, C. Wang, M. Gao, A.Y. Hu, Z. Liu, Remotely controlled red blood cell carriers for cancer targeting and near-infrared light-triggered drug release in combined photothermal chemotherapy, Nanomed.-Nanotechnol. 12 (2) (2016). 548 548.
- [85] A.W. Yewdall, S.B. Drutman, F. Jinwala, K.S. Bahjat, N. Bhardwaj, CD8+ T cell priming by dendritic cell vaccines requires antigen transfer to endogenous antigen presenting cells, PLoS One 5 (6) (2010) e11144.
- [86] A.M. Brynskikh, Y. Zhao, R.L. Mosley, S. Li, M.D. Boska, N.L. Klyachko, A.V. Kabanov, H.E. Gendelman, E.V. Batrakova, Macrophage delivery of therapeutic nanozymes in a murine model of Parkinson's disease, Nanomedicine (Lond) 5 (3) (2010) 379–396.
- [87] J. Choi, H.Y. Kim, E.J. Ju, J. Jung, J. Park, H.K. Chung, J.S. Lee, J.S. Lee, H.J. Park, S. Y. Song, S.Y. Jeong, E.K. Choi, Use of macrophages to deliver therapeutic and imaging contrast agents to tumors, Biomaterials 33 (16) (2012) 4195–4203.

- [88] N. Doshi, A.J. Swiston, J.B. Gilbert, M.L. Alcaraz, R.E. Cohen, M.F. Rubner, S. Mitragotri, Cell-based drug delivery devices using phagocytosis-resistant backpacks, Adv. Mater. 23 (12) (2011) H105–H109.
- [89] C.A. Holden, Q. Yuan, W.A. Yeudall, D.A. Lebman, H. Yang, Surface engineering of macrophages with nanoparticles to generate a cell-nanoparticle hybrid vehicle for hypoxia-targeted drug delivery, Int. J. Nanomed. 5 (2010) 25–36.
- [90] S.J. Madsen, S.K. Baek, A.R. Makkouk, T. Krasieva, H. Hirschberg, Macrophages as Cell-based delivery systems for nanoshells in photothermal therapy, Ann. Biomed. Eng. 40 (2) (2012) 507–515.
- [91] M.T. Stephan, J.J. Moon, S.H. Um, A. Bershteyn, D.J. Irvine, Therapeutic cell engineering with surface-conjugated synthetic nanoparticles, Nat. Med. 16 (9) (2010) 1035–1041.
- [92] V.R. Muzykantov, Drug delivery by red blood cells: vascular carriers designed by mother nature, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 7 (4) (2010) 403–427.
- [93] A. Criado-Fornelio, A. Martinez-Marcos, A. Buling-Sarana, J.C. Barba-Carretero, Presence of Mycoplasma haemofelis Mycoplasma haemominutum and piroplasmids in cats from southern Europe: a molecular study, Vet. Microbiol. 93 (4) (2003) 307–317.
- [94] Y. Akiyama, C. Oshita, A. Kume, A. Iizuka, H. Miyata, M. Komiyama, T. Ashizawa, M. Yagoto, Y. Abe, K. Mitsuya, R. Watanabe, T. Sugino, K. Yamaguchi, Y. Nakasu, alpha-type-1 polarized dendritic cell-based vaccination in recurrent high-grade glioma: a phase I clinical trial, BMC Cancer 12 (2012) 623.
- [95] F. Garcia, N. Climent, A.C. Guardo, C. Gil, A. Leon, B. Autran, J.D. Lifson, J. Martinez-Picado, J. Dalmau, B. Clotet, J.M. Gatell, M. Plana, T. Gallart, D.M.O.S. Group, A dendritic cell-based vaccine elicits T cell responses associated with control of HIV-1 replication, Sci. Transl. Med. 5 (166) (2013) 166ra2.
- [96] M.J. Haney, Y. Zhao, E.B. Harrison, V. Mahajan, S. Ahmed, Z. He, P. Suresh, S.D. Hingtgen, N.L. Klyachko, R.L. Mosley, H.E. Gendelman, A.V. Kabanov, E.V. Batrakova, Specific transfection of inflamed brain by macrophages: a new therapeutic strategy for neurodegenerative diseases, PLoS One 8 (4) (2013) e61852.
- [97] P.W. Kantoff, C.S. Higano, N.D. Shore, E.R. Berger, E.J. Small, D.F. Penson, C.H. Redfern, A.C. Ferrari, R. Dreicer, R.B. Sims, Y. Xu, M.W. Frohlich, P.F. Schellhammer, I.S. Investigators, Sipuleucel-T immunotherapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer, N Engl. J. Med. 363 (5) (2010) 411–422.
- [98] C. Oshita, M. Takikawa, A. Kume, H. Miyata, T. Ashizawa, A. Iizuka, Y. Kiyohara, S. Yoshikawa, R. Tanosaki, N. Yamazaki, A. Yamamoto, K. Takesako, K. Yamaguchi, Y. Akiyama, Dendritic cell-based vaccination in metastatic melanoma patients: phase II clinical trial, Oncol. Rep. 28 (4) (2012) 1131–1138.
- [99] N.A. Sheikh, D. Petrylak, P.W. Kantoff, C. Dela Rosa, F.P. Stewart, L.Y. Kuan, J.B. Whitmore, J.B. Trager, C.H. Poehlein, M.W. Frohlich, D.L. Urdal, Sipuleucel-T immune parameters correlate with survival: an analysis of the randomized phase 3 clinical trials in men with castration-resistant prostate cancer, Cancer Immunol. Immunother. 62 (1) (2013) 137–147.
- [100] R.E. Fuentes, S. Zaitsev, H.S. Ahn, V. Hayes, M.A. Kowalska, M.P. Lambert, Y. Wang, D.L. Siegel, D.W. Bougie, R.H. Aster, D.D. Myers, V. Stepanova, D.B. Cines, V.R. Muzykantov, M. Poncz, A chimeric platelet-targeted urokinase prodrug selectively blocks new thrombus formation, J. Clin. Invest. 126 (2) (2016) 483–494.
- [101] S. Sarkar, M.A. Alam, J. Shaw, A.K. Dasgupta, Drug delivery using platelet cancer cell interaction, Pharm. Res.-Dordr. 30 (11) (2013) 2785–2794.
- [102] P. Xu, H. Zuo, B. Chen, R. Wang, A. Ahmed, Y. Hu, J. Ouyang, Doxorubicinloaded platelets as a smart drug delivery system: an improved therapy for lymphoma, Sci. Rep. 7 (2017) 42632.
- [103] M. Labelle, S. Begum, R.O. Hynes, Direct signaling between platelets and cancer cells induces an epithelial-mesenchymal-like transition and promotes metastasis, Cancer Cell 20 (5) (2011) 576–590.
- [104] P. Xu, H. Zuo, R. Zhou, F. Wang, X. Liu, J. Ouyang, B. Chen, Doxorubicin-loaded platelets conjugated with anti-CD22 mAbs: a novel targeted delivery system for lymphoma treatment with cardiopulmonary avoidance, Oncotarget 8 (35) (2017) 58322–58337.
- [105] H. Im, H. Shao, R. Weissleder, C.M. Castro, H. Lee, Nano-plasmonic exosome diagnostics, Expert. Rev. Mol. Diagn 15 (6) (2015) 725–733.
- [106] H. Shao, J. Chung, D. Issadore, Diagnostic technologies for circulating tumour cells and exosomes, Biosci. Rep. (2016).
- [107] M.S. Fiandaca, D. Kapogiannis, M. Mapstone, A. Boxer, E. Eitan, J.B. Schwartz, E.L. Abner, R.C. Petersen, H.J. Federoff, B.L. Miller, E.J. Goetzl, Identification of pre-clinical Alzheimer's disease by a profile of pathogenic proteins in neurally-derived blood exosomes: a case-control study, Alzheimers Dement 11 (6) (2015) 600–607e1.
- [108] E.J. Goetzl, A. Boxer, J.B. Schwartz, E.L. Abner, R.C. Petersen, B.L. Miller, D. Kapogiannis, Altered lysosomal proteins in neural-derived plasma exosomes in preclinical Alzheimer disease, Neurology (2015).
- [109] Z. Stickney, J. Losacco, S. McDevitt, Z. Zhang, B. Lu, Development of exosome surface display technology in living human cells, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 472 (1) (2016) 53–59.
- [110] L.A. Mulcahy, R.C. Pink, D.R.F. Carter, Routes and mechanisms of extracellular vesicle uptake, J. Extracell. Vesicles (2014), https://doi.org/10.3402/jev. v3.24641.
- [111] D. Rufino-Ramos, P.R. Albuquerque, V. Carmona, R. Perfeito, R.J. Nobre, L.P. de Almeida, Extracellular vesicles: novel promising delivery systems for therapy of brain diseases, J. Control. Release 262 (2017) 247–258.

- [112] S.A.A. Kooijmans, P. Vader, S.M. van Dommelen, W.W. van Solinge, R.M. Schiffelers, Exosome mimetics: a novel class of drug delivery systems, Int. J. Nanomed. 7 (2012) 1525–1541.
- [113] S.C. Jang, O.Y. Kim, C.M. Yoon, D.S. Choi, T.Y. Roh, J. Park, J. Nilsson, J. Lotvall, Y.K. Kim, Y.S. Gho, Bioinspired exosome-mimetic nanovesicles for targeted delivery of chemotherapeutics to malignant tumors, ACS Nano 7 (9) (2013) 7698–7710.
- [114] J. Yoon, W. Jo, D. Jeong, J. Kim, H. Jeong, J. Park, Generation of nanovesicles with sliced cellular membrane fragments for exogenous material delivery, Biomaterials 59 (2015) 12–20.
- [115] L. Barile, G. Vassalli, Exosomes: therapy delivery tools and biomarkers of diseases, Pharmacol Ther 174 (2017) 63–78.
- [116] L. Jiang, P. Vader, R.M. Schiffelers, Extracellular vesicles for nucleic acid delivery: progress and prospects for safe RNA-based gene therapy, Gene Ther. 24 (3) (2017) 157–166.
- [117] X.C. Jiang, J.Q. Gao, Exosomes as novel bio-carriers for gene and drug delivery, Int. J. Pharmaceut. 521 (1-2) (2017) 167-175.
- [118] M. Morishita, Y. Takahashi, M. Nishikawa, Y. Takakura, Pharmacokinetics of exosomes-an important factor for elucidating the biological roles of exosomes and for the development of exosome-based therapeutics, J. Pharm. Sci. 106 (9) (2017) 2265–2269.
- [119] A.J. O'Loughlin, I. Mager, O.G. de Jong, M.A. Varela, R.M. Schiffelers, S. El Andaloussi, M.J.A. Wood, P. Vader, Functional delivery of lipid-conjugated siRNA by extracellular vesicles, Mol. Ther. 25 (7) (2017) 1580–1587.
- [120] S. Zaitsev, D. Spitzer, J.C. Murciano, B.S. Ding, S. Tliba, M.A. Kowalska, O.A. Marcos-Contreras, A. Kuo, V. Stepanova, J.P. Atkinson, M. Poncz, D.B. Cines, V. R. Muzykantov, Sustained thromboprophylaxis mediated by an RBC-targeted pro-urokinase zymogen activated at the site of clot formation, Blood 115 (25) (2010) 5241–5248.
- [121] N. Gupta, B. Patel, F. Ahsan, Nano-engineered erythrocyte ghosts as inhalational carriers for delivery of fasudil: preparation and characterization, Pharm. Res. 31 (6) (2014) 1553–1565.
- [122] M. Cremel, N. Guerin, F. Horand, A. Banz, Y. Godfrin, Red blood cells as innovative antigen carrier to induce specific immune tolerance, Int. J. Pharmaceut. 443 (1–2) (2013) 39–49.
- [123] G.P. Wang, Y.S. Guan, X.R. Jin, S.S. Jiang, Z.J. Lu, Y. Wu, Y. Li, M. Li, F. Luo, Development of novel 5-fluorouracil carrier erythrocyte with pharmacokinetics and potent antitumor activity in mice bearing malignant ascites, J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 25 (5) (2010) 985–990.
- [124] L.Y. Wang, X.Y. Shi, C.S. Yang, D.M. Huang, Versatile RBC-derived vesicles as nanoparticle vector of photosensitizers for photodynamic therapy, Nanoscale 5 (1) (2013) 416–421.
- [125] X. Jiang, K. Wang, Z. Zhou, Y. Zhang, H. Sha, Q. Xu, J. Wu, J. Wang, J. Wu, Y. Hu, B. Liu, Erythrocyte membrane nanoparticles improve the intestinal absorption of paclitaxel, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 488 (2) (2017) 322–328.
- [126] S. Ahn, S.Y. Jung, E. Seo, S.J. Lee, Gold nanoparticle-incorporated human red blood cells (RBCs) for X-ray dynamic imaging, Biomaterials 32 (29) (2011) 7191–7199.
- [127] G. Ferrauto, D. Delli Castelli, E. Di Gregorio, S. Langereis, D. Burdinski, H. Grull, E. Terreno, S. Aime, Lanthanide-loaded erythrocytes as highly sensitive chemical exchange saturation transfer MRI contrast agents, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 136 (2) (2014) 638–641.
- [128] A. Antonelli, C. Sfara, E. Manuali, I.J. Bruce, M. Magnani, Encapsulation of superparamagnetic nanoparticles into red blood cells as new carriers of MRI contrast agents, Nanomedicine (Lond) 6 (2) (2011) 211–223.
- [129] B. Bahmani, D. Bacon, B. Anvari, Erythrocyte-derived phototheranostic agents: hybrid nano-vesicles containing indocyanine green for near infrared imaging and therapeutic applications, Sci. Rep. 3 (2013) 2180.
- [130] M. Chang, J.K. Hsiao, M. Yao, L.Y. Chien, S.C. Hsu, B.S. Ko, S.T. Chen, H.M. Liu, Y. C. Chen, C.S. Yang, D.M. Huang, Homologous RBC-derived vesicles as ultrasmall carriers of iron oxide for magnetic resonance imaging of stem cells, Nanotechnology 21 (23) (2010).
- [131] K.K.L. Phua, D. Boczkowski, J. Dannull, S. Pruitt, K.W. Leong, S.K. Nair, Whole blood cells loaded with messenger RNA as an anti-tumor vaccine, Adv. Healthcare Mater. 3 (6) (2014) 837–842.
- [132] Y. Tian, S. Li, J. Song, T. Ji, M. Zhu, G.J. Anderson, J. Wei, G. Nie, A doxorubicin delivery platform using engineered natural membrane vesicle exosomes for targeted tumor therapy, Biomaterials 35 (7) (2014) 2383–2390.
- [133] M.S. Kim, M.J. Haney, Y. Zhao, V. Mahajan, I. Deygen, N.L. Klyachko, E. Inskoe, A. Piroyan, M. Sokolsky, O. Okolie, S.D. Hingtgen, A.V. Kabanov, E.V. Batrakova, Development of exosome-encapsulated paclitaxel to overcome MDR in cancer cells, Nanomedicine-Uk 12 (3) (2016) 655–664.
- [134] K. Tang, Y. Zhang, H. Zhang, P. Xu, J. Liu, J. Ma, M. Lv, D. Li, F. Katirai, G.X. Shen, G. Zhang, Z.H. Feng, D. Ye, B. Huang, Delivery of chemotherapeutic drugs in tumour cell-derived microparticles, Nat. Commun. 3 (2012) 1282.
- [135] M.J. Haney, N.L. Klyachko, Y.L. Zhaoa, R. Gupta, E.G. Plotnikova, Z.J. He, T. Patel, A. Piroyan, M. Sokolsky, A.V. Kabanov, E.V. Batrakova, Exosomes as drug delivery vehicles for Parkinson's disease therapy, J. Control. Release 207 (2015) 18–30.
- [136] L. Alvarez-Erviti, Y. Seow, H. Yin, C. Betts, S. Lakhal, M.J. Wood, Delivery of siRNA to the mouse brain by systemic injection of targeted exosomes, Nat. Biotechnol. 29 (4) (2011) 341–345.

- [137] P. Charoenphol, R.B. Huang, O. Eniola-Adefeso, Potential role of size and hemodynamics in the efficacy of vascular-targeted spherical drug carriers, Biomaterials 31 (6) (2010) 1392–1402.
- [138] P. Charoenphol, P.J. Onyskiw, M. Carrasco-Teja, O. Eniola-Adefeso, Particlecell dynamics in human blood flow: implications for vascular-targeted drug delivery, J. Biomech. 45 (16) (2012) 2822–2828.
- [139] T.M. Allen, P.R. Cullis, Drug delivery systems: entering the mainstream, Science 303 (5665) (2004) 1818–1822.
- [140] S. Schottler, G. Becker, S. Winzen, T. Steinbach, K. Mohr, K. Landfester, V. Mailander, F.R. Wurm, Protein adsorption is required for stealth effect of poly (ethylene glycol)- and poly(phosphoester)-coated nanocarriers, Nat. Nanotechnol. 11 (4) (2016) 372–377.
- [141] C.A. Schutz, L. Juillerat-Jeanneret, H. Mueller, I. Lynch, M. Riediker, C. NanoImpactNet, Therapeutic nanoparticles in clinics and under clinical evaluation, Nanomedicine (Lond) 8 (3) (2013) 449–467.
- [142] T. Ishida, H. Kiwada, Accelerated blood clearance (ABC) phenomenon upon repeated injection of PEGylated liposomes, Int. J. Pharm. 354 (1-2) (2008) 56-62.
- [143] T. Ishihara, M. Takeda, H. Sakamoto, A. Kimoto, C. Kobayashi, N. Takasaki, K. Yuki, K. Tanaka, M. Takenaga, R. Igarashi, T. Maeda, N. Yamakawa, Y. Okamoto, M. Otsuka, T. Ishida, H. Kiwada, Y. Mizushima, T. Mizushima, Accelerated blood clearance phenomenon upon repeated injection of PEG-modified PLA-nanoparticles, Pharm. Res. 26 (10) (2009) 2270–2279.
- [144] X. Wang, T. Ishida, H. Kiwada, Anti-PEG IgM elicited by injection of liposomes is involved in the enhanced blood clearance of a subsequent dose of PEGylated liposomes, J. Control Release 119 (2) (2007) 236–244.
- [145] P. Zhang, F. Sun, S. Liu, S. Jiang, Anti-PEG antibodies in the clinic: current issues and beyond PEGylation, J. Control Release 244 (Pt B) (2016) 184–193.
- [146] J.K. Armstrong, G. Hempel, S. Koling, L.S. Chan, T. Fisher, H.J. Meiselman, G. Garratty, Antibody against poly(ethylene glycol) adversely affects PEG-asparaginase therapy in acute lymphoblastic leukemia patients, Cancer 110 (1) (2007) 103–111.
- [147] S. Jiang, Z. Cao, Ultralow-fouling, functionalizable, and hydrolyzable zwitterionic materials and their derivatives for biological applications, Adv. Mater. 22 (9) (2010) 920–932.
- [148] L. Rao, L.L. Bu, J.H. Xu, B. Cai, G.T. Yu, X. Yu, Z. He, Q. Huang, A. Li, S.S. Guo, W.F. Zhang, W. Liu, Z.J. Sun, H. Wang, T.H. Wang, X.Z. Zhao, Red blood cell membrane as a biomimetic nanocoating for prolonged circulation time and reduced accelerated blood clearance, Small 11 (46) (2015) 6225–6236.
- [149] W. Yang, L. Zhang, S.L. Wang, A.D. White, S.Y. Jiang, Functionalizable and ultra stable nanoparticles coated with zwitterionic poly(carboxybetaine) in undiluted blood serum, Biomaterials 30 (29) (2009) 5617–5621.
- [150] P. Zhang, F. Sun, C. Tsao, S. Liu, P. Jain, A. Sinclair, H.C. Hung, T. Bai, K. Wu, S. Jiang, Zwitterionic gel encapsulation promotes protein stability, enhances pharmacokinetics, and reduces immunogenicity, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 112 (39) (2015) 12046–12051.
- [151] J. Li, Y. Ai, L. Wang, P. Bu, C.C. Sharkey, Q. Wu, B. Wun, S. Roy, X. Shen, M.R. King, Targeted drug delivery to circulating tumor cells via platelet membrane-functionalized particles, Biomaterials 76 (2016) 52–65.
- [152] R.A. Meyer, J.C. Sunshine, J.J. Green, Biomimetic particles as therapeutics, Trends Biotechnol. 33 (9) (2015) 514–524.
- [153] N.E. Toledano Furman, Y. Lupu-Haber, T. Bronshtein, L. Kaneti, N. Letko, E. Weinstein, L. Baruch, M. Machluf, Reconstructed stem cell nanoghosts: a natural tumor targeting platform, Nano. Lett. 13 (7) (2013) 3248–3255.
- [154] A. Tan, H. De La Pena, A.M. Seifalian, The application of exosomes as a nanoscale cancer vaccine, Int. J. Nanomed. 5 (2010).
- [155] D.W. Stuckey, K. Shah, Stem cell-based therapies for cancer treatment: separating hope from hype, Nat. Rev. Cancer 14 (10) (2014) 683–691.
- [156] W. Gao, R.H. Fang, S. Thamphiwatana, B.T. Luk, J. Li, P. Angsantikul, Q. Zhang, C.M. Hu, L. Zhang, Modulating antibacterial immunity via bacterial membrane-coated nanoparticles, Nano Lett. 15 (2) (2015) 1403–1409.
- [157] W. Gao, C.M. Hu, R.H. Fang, B.T. Luk, J. Su, L. Zhang, Surface functionalization of gold nanoparticles with red blood cell membranes, Adv. Mater. 25 (26) (2013) 3549–3553.
- [158] C.C. Hsieh, S.T. Kang, Y.H. Lin, Y.J. Ho, C.H. Wang, C.K. Yeh, C.W. Chang, Biomimetic acoustically-responsive vesicles for theranostic applications, Theranostics 5 (11) (2015) 1264–1274.
- [159] C.M. Hu, L. Zhang, S. Aryal, C. Cheung, R.H. Fang, L. Zhang, Erythrocyte membrane-camouflaged polymeric nanoparticles as a biomimetic delivery platform, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 108 (27) (2011) 10980–10985.
- [160] S. Krishnamurthy, M.K. Gnanasammandhan, C. Xie, K. Huang, M.Y. Cui, J.M. Chan, Monocyte cell membrane-derived nanoghosts for targeted cancer therapy, Nanoscale 8 (13) (2016) 6981–6985.
- [161] A. Parodi, N. Quattrocchi, A.L. van de Ven, C. Chiappini, M. Evangelopoulos, J. O. Martinez, B.S. Brown, S.Z. Khaled, I.K. Yazdi, M. Vittoria Enzo, L. Isenhart, M. Ferrari, E. Tasciotti, Synthetic nanoparticles functionalized with biomimetic leukocyte membranes possess cell-like functions, Nat. Nanotechnol. 8 (1) (2013) 61–68.
- [162] J.G. Piao, L.M. Wang, F. Gao, Y.Z. You, Y.J. Xiong, L.H. Yang, Erythrocyte membrane is an alternative coating to polyethylene glycol for prolonging the circulation lifetime of gold nanocages for photothermal therapy, ACS Nano 8 (10) (2014) 10414–10425.
- [163] M. Xuan, J. Shao, L. Dai, Q. He, J. Li, Macrophage cell membrane camouflaged mesoporous silica nanocapsules for in vivo cancer therapy, Adv. Healthc. Mater. 4 (11) (2015) 1645–1652.

- [164] M. Xuan, J. Shao, L. Dai, J. Li, Q. He, Macrophage cell membrane camouflaged au nanoshells for in vivo prolonged circulation life and enhanced cancer photothermal therapy, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 8 (15) (2016) 9610–9618.
- [165] C.M. Hu, R.H. Fang, K.C. Wang, B.T. Luk, S. Thamphiwatana, D. Dehaini, P. Nguyen, P. Angsantikul, C.H. Wen, A.V. Kroll, C. Carpenter, M. Ramesh, V. Qu, S.H. Patel, J. Zhu, W. Shi, F.M. Hofman, T.C. Chen, W. Gao, K. Zhang, S. Chien, L. Zhang, Nanoparticle biointerfacing by platelet membrane cloaking, Nature 526 (7571) (2015) 118–121.
- [166] X. Wei, J. Gao, R.H. Fang, B.T. Luk, A.V. Kroll, D. Dehaini, J. Zhou, H.W. Kim, W. Gao, W. Lu, L. Zhang, Nanoparticles camouflaged in platelet membrane coating as an antibody decoy for the treatment of immune thrombocytopenia, Biomaterials 111 (2016) 116–123.
- [167] C.M. Hu, R.H. Fang, B.T. Luk, K.N. Chen, C. Carpenter, W. Gao, K. Zhang, L. Zhang, 'Marker-of-self functionalization of nanoscale particles through a top-down cellular membrane coating approach, Nanoscale 5 (7) (2013) 2664–2668.
- [168] D.T. Fearon, L.B. Klickstein, W.W. Wong, J.G. Wilson, F.D. Moore Jr., J.J. Weis, J. H. Weis, R.M. Jack, R.H. Carter, J.A. Ahearn, Immunoregulatory functions of complement: structural and functional studies of complement receptor type 1 CR1; CD35) and type 2 (CR2; CD21), Prog. Clin. Biol. Res. 297 (1989) 211– 220.
- [169] R.H. Fang, C.M. Hu, K.N. Chen, B.T. Luk, C.W. Carpenter, W. Gao, S. Li, D.E. Zhang, W. Lu, L. Zhang, Lipid-insertion enables targeting functionalization of erythrocyte membrane-cloaked nanoparticles, Nanoscale 5 (19) (2013) 8884–8888.
- [170] Y. Guo, D. Wang, Q. Song, T. Wu, X. Zhuang, Y. Bao, M. Kong, Y. Qi, S. Tan, Z. Zhang, Erythrocyte membrane-enveloped polymeric nanoparticles as nanovaccine for induction of antitumor immunity against melanoma, ACS Nano 9 (7) (2015) 6918–6933.
- [171] Z. Chai, X. Hu, X. Wei, C. Zhan, L. Lu, K. Jiang, B. Su, H. Ruan, D. Ran, R.H. Fang, L. Zhang, W. Lu, A facile approach to functionalizing cell membrane-coated nanoparticles with neurotoxin-derived peptide for brain-targeted drug delivery, J. Control. Release 264 (2017) 102–111.
- [172] Q. Fu, P. Lv, Z. Chen, D. Ni, L. Zhang, H. Yue, Z. Yue, W. Wei, G. Ma, Programmed co-delivery of paclitaxel and doxorubicin boosted by camouflaging with erythrocyte membrane, Nanoscale 7 (9) (2015) 4020– 4030.
- [173] L. Rao, Q.F. Meng, L.L. Bu, B. Cai, Q. Huang, Z.J. Sun, W.F. Zhang, A. Li, S.S. Guo, W. Liu, T.H. Wang, X.Z. Zhao, Erythrocyte membrane-coated upconversion nanoparticles with minimal protein adsorption for enhanced tumor imaging, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 9 (3) (2017) 2159–2168.
- [174] D.M. Zhu, W. Xie, Y.S. Xiao, M. Suo, M.H. Zan, Q.Q. Liao, X.J. Hu, L.B. Chen, B. Chen, W.T. Wu, L.W. Ji, H.M. Huang, S.S. Guo, X.Z. Zhao, Q.Y. Liu, W. Liu, Erythrocyte membrane-coated gold nanocages for targeted photothermal and chemical cancer therapy, Nanotechnology 29 (8) (2018) 084002.
- [175] H. Ding, Y. Lv, D. Ni, J. Wang, Z. Tian, W. Wei, G. Ma, Erythrocyte membranecoated NIR-triggered biomimetic nanovectors with programmed delivery for photodynamic therapy of cancer, Nanoscale 7 (21) (2015) 9806–9815.
- [176] L. Gao, H. Wang, L. Nan, T. Peng, L. Sun, J. Zhou, Y. Xiao, J. Wang, J. Sun, W. Lu, L. Zhang, Z. Yan, L. Yu, Y. Wang, Erythrocyte membrane-wrapped pH sensitive polymeric nanoparticles for non-small cell lung cancer therapy, Bioconjug. Chem. 28 (10) (2017) 2591–2598.
- [177] J. Su, H. Sun, Q. Meng, P. Zhang, Q. Yin, Y. Li, Enhanced blood suspensibility and laser-activated tumor-specific drug release of theranostic mesoporous silica nanoparticles by functionalizing with erythrocyte membranes, Theranostics 7 (3) (2017) 523–537.
- [178] J.A. Copp, R.H. Fang, B.T. Luk, C.M.J. Hu, W.W. Gao, K. Zhang, L.F. Zhang, Clearance of pathological antibodies using biomimetic nanoparticles, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 111 (37) (2014) 13481–13486.
- [179] Z. Pang, C.M. Hu, R.H. Fang, B.T. Luk, W. Gao, F. Wang, E. Chuluun, P. Angsantikul, S. Thamphiwatana, W. Lu, X. Jiang, L. Zhang, Detoxification of organophosphate poisoning using nanoparticle bioscavengers, ACS Nano 9 (6) (2015) 6450–6458.
- [180] F. Wang, W. Gao, S. Thamphiwatana, B.T. Luk, P. Angsantikul, Q. Zhang, C.M. Hu, R.H. Fang, J.A. Copp, D. Pornpattananangkul, W. Lu, L. Zhang, Hydrogel retaining toxin-absorbing nanosponges for local treatment of methicillinresistant staphylococcus aureus infection, Adv Mater. 27 (22) (2015) 3437– 3443.
- [181] Z.G. Wu, T.L. Li, W. Gao, T.L. Xu, B. Jurado-Sanchez, J.X. Li, W.W. Gao, Q. He, L. F. Zhang, J. Wang, Cell-membrane-coated synthetic nanomotors for effective biodetoxification, Adv. Funct. Mater. 25 (25) (2015) 3881–3887.
- [182] Z.G. Wu, J.X. Li, B.E.F. de Avila, T.L. Li, W.W. Gao, Q. He, L.F. Zhang, J. Wang, Water-powered cell-mimicking janus micromotor, Adv. Funct. Mater. 25 (48) (2015) 7497–7501.
- [183] L.L. Li, J.H. Xu, G.B. Qi, X. Zhao, F. Yu, H. Wang, Core-shell supramolecular gelatin nanoparticles for adaptive and "on-demand" antibiotic delivery, ACS Nano 8 (5) (2014) 4975–4983.
- [184] Y. Zhang, J. Zhang, W. Chen, P. Angsantikul, K.A. Spiekermann, R.H. Fang, W. Gao, L. Zhang, Erythrocyte membrane-coated nanogel for combinatorial antivirulence and responsive antimicrobial delivery against Staphylococcus aureus infection, J. Control Release (2017).
- [185] C.M. Hu, R.H. Fang, J. Copp, B.T. Luk, L. Zhang, A biomimetic nanosponge that absorbs pore-forming toxins, Nat. Nanotechnol. 8 (5) (2013) 336–340.
- [186] C.M. Hu, R.H. Fang, B.T. Luk, L. Zhang, Nanoparticle-detained toxins for safe and effective vaccination, Nat. Nanotechnol. 8 (12) (2013) 933–938.

- [187] D. Dehaini, X. Wei, R.H. Fang, S. Masson, P. Angsantikul, B.T. Luk, Y. Zhang, M. Ying, Y. Jiang, A.V. Kroll, W. Gao, L. Zhang, Erythrocyte-platelet hybrid membrane coating for enhanced nanoparticle functionalization, Adv. Mater. 29 (16) (2017).
- [188] O.C. Farokhzad, Nanotechnology: platelet mimicry, Nature 526 (7571) (2015) 47–48.
- [189] Q. Hu, W. Sun, C. Qian, C. Wang, H.N. Bomba, Z. Gu, Anticancer plateletmimicking nanovehicles, Adv. Mater. 27 (44) (2015) 7043–7050.
- [190] P. Vader, E.A. Mol, G. Pasterkamp, R.M. Schiffelers, Extracellular vesicles for drug delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 106 (2016) 148–156.
- [191] K.B. Johnsen, J.M. Gudbergsson, M.N. Skov, L. Pilgaard, T. Moos, M. Duroux, A comprehensive overview of exosomes as drug delivery vehicles – endogenous nanocarriers for targeted cancer therapy, Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Rev. Cancer 1846 (1) (2014) 75–87.
- [192] Z. Zhang, H. Qian, M. Yang, R. Li, J. Hu, L. Li, L. Yu, B. Liu, X. Qian, Gambogic acid-loaded biomimetic nanoparticles in colorectal cancer treatment, Int. J. Nanomed. 12 (2017) 1593–1605.
- [193] X. Wang, H. Li, X. Liu, Y. Tian, H. Guo, T. Jiang, Z. Luo, K. Jin, X. Kuai, Y. Liu, Z. Pang, W. Yang, S. Shen, Enhanced photothermal therapy of biomimetic polypyrrole nanoparticles through improving blood flow perfusion, Biomaterials 143 (2017) 130–141.
- [194] L.W. Hui, S. Qin, L.H. Yang, Upper critical solution temperature polymer, photothermal agent, and erythrocyte membrane coating: an unexplored recipe for making drug carriers with spatiotemporally controlled cargo release, ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng. 2 (12) (2016) 2127–2132.
- [195] M. Gao, C. Liang, X. Song, Q. Chen, Q. Jin, C. Wang, Z. Liu, Erythrocytemembrane-enveloped perfluorocarbon as nanoscale artificial red blood cells to relieve tumor hypoxia and enhance cancer radiotherapy, Adv. Mater. 29 (35) (2017).
- [196] H. Ren, J. Liu, Y. Li, H. Wang, S. Ge, A. Yuan, Y. Hu, J. Wu, Oxygen self-enriched nanoparticles functionalized with erythrocyte membranes for long circulation and enhanced phototherapy, Acta Biomater. 59 (2017) 269–282.
- [197] A.L. LaGrow, P.S. Coburn, F.C. Miller, C. Land, S.M. Parkunan, B.T. Luk, W. Gao, L. Zhang, M.C. Callegan, A novel biomimetic nanosponge protects the retina from the enterococcus faecalis cytolysin, mSphere 2 (6) (2017).
- [198] S. Thamphiwatana, P. Angsantikul, T. Escajadillo, Q. Zhang, J. Olson, B.T. Luk, S. Zhang, R.H. Fang, W. Gao, V. Nizet, L. Zhang, Macrophage-like nanoparticles concurrently absorbing endotoxins and proinflammatory cytokines for sepsis management, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 114 (43) (2017) 11488–11493.
- [199] L.M. Williamson, D.V. Devine, Challenges in the management of the blood supply, Lancet 381 (9880) (2013) 1866–1875.
- [200] A.F. Palmer, M. Intaglietta, Blood substitutes, Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng. 16 (2014) 77-101.
- [201] H.R. Buller, C. Bethune, S. Bhanot, D. Gailani, B.P. Monia, G.E. Raskob, A. Segers, P. Verhamme, J.I. Weitz, F.-A.T. Investigators, Factor XI antisense oligonucleotide for prevention of venous thrombosis, N Engl. J. Med. 372 (3) (2015) 232–240.
- [202] F.J. Hsu, C. Benike, F. Fagnoni, T.M. Liles, D. Czerwinski, B. Taidi, E.G. Engleman, R. Levy, Vaccination of patients with B-cell lymphoma using autologous antigen-pulsed dendritic cells, Nat. Med. 2 (1) (1996) 52–58.
- [203] C.G. Drake, E.J. Lipson, J.R. Brahmer, Breathing new life into immunotherapy: review of melanoma, lung and kidney cancer, Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol. 11 (1) (2014) 24–37.

- [204] E. Vacchelli, I. Vitale, A. Eggermont, W.H. Fridman, J. Fucikova, I. Cremer, J. Galon, E. Tartour, L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer, L. Galluzzi, Trial watch: dendritic cell-based interventions for cancer therapy, Oncoimmunology 2 (10) (2013) e25771.
- [205] K. Palucka, J. Banchereau, Dendritic-cell-based therapeutic cancer vaccines, Immunity 39 (1) (2013) 38–48.
- [206] S.A. Rosenberg, Decade in review-cancer immunotherapy: entering the mainstream of cancer treatment, Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol. 11 (11) (2014) 630– 632.
- [207] R.A. Morgan, M.E. Dudley, J.R. Wunderlich, M.S. Hughes, J.C. Yang, R.M. Sherry, R.E. Royal, S.L. Topalian, U.S. Kammula, N.P. Restifo, Z. Zheng, A. Nahvi, C.R. de Vries, L.J. Rogers-Freezer, S.A. Mavroukakis, S.A. Rosenberg, Cancer regression in patients after transfer of genetically engineered lymphocytes, Science 314 (5796) (2006) 126–129.
- [208] S.A. Rosenberg, J.C. Yang, R.M. Sherry, U.S. Kammula, M.S. Hughes, G.Q. Phan, D.E. Citrin, N.P. Restifo, P.F. Robbins, J.R. Wunderlich, K.E. Morton, C.M. Laurencot, S.M. Steinberg, D.E. White, M.E. Dudley, Durable complete responses in heavily pretreated patients with metastatic melanoma using T-cell transfer immunotherapy, Clin. Cancer Res. 17 (13) (2011) 4550–4557.
- [209] C.S. Hinrichs, S.A. Rosenberg, Exploiting the curative potential of adoptive Tcell therapy for cancer, Immunol. Rev. 257 (1) (2014) 56–71.
- [210] S. Biagiotti, M.F. Paoletti, A. Fraternale, L. Rossi, M. Magnani, Drug delivery by red blood cells, IUBMB Life 63 (8) (2011) 621–631.
- [211] G. Mambrini, M. Mandolini, L. Rossi, F. Pierige, G. Capogrossi, P. Salvati, S. Serafini, L. Benatti, M. Magnani, Ex vivo encapsulation of dexamethasone sodium phosphate into human autologous erythrocytes using fully automated biomedical equipment, Int. J. Pharm. 517 (1–2) (2017) 175–184.
- [212] L. Chessa, V. Leuzzi, A. Plebani, A. Soresina, R. Micheli, D. D'Ágnano, T. Venturi, A. Molinaro, E. Fazzi, M. Marini, P. Ferremi Leali, I. Quinti, F.M. Cavaliere, G. Girelli, M.C. Pietrogrande, A. Finocchi, S. Tabolli, D. Abeni, M. Magnani, Intraerythrocyte infusion of dexamethasone reduces neurological symptoms in ataxia teleangiectasia patients: results of a phase 2 trial, Orphanet, J. Rare Dis. 9 (2014) 5.
- [213] J. Lahann, S. Mitragotri, S. Bhaskar, N. Doshi, A.A. Zahr, Red blood cell-mimetic particles and methods for making use thereof, 2013.
- [214] Y.L. Su, K.T. Chen, Y.C. Sheu, S.Y. Sung, R.S. Hsu, C.S. Chiang, S.H. Hu, The penetrated delivery of drug and energy to tumors by lipo-graphene nanosponges for photolytic therapy, ACS Nano 10 (10) (2016) 9420–9433.
- [215] M.J. Haney, Y.L. Zhao, E.B. Harrison, V. Mahajan, S. Ahmed, Z.J. He, P. Suresh, S. D. Hingtgen, N.L. Klyachko, R.L. Mosley, H.E. Gendelman, A.V. Kabanov, E.V. Batrakova, Specific transfection of inflamed brain by macrophages: a new therapeutic strategy for neurodegenerative diseases, PLoS One 8 (4) (2013).
- [216] N. Doshi, A.S. Zahr, S. Bhaskar, J. Lahann, S. Mitragotri, Red blood cellmimicking synthetic biomaterial particles, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 106 (51) (2009) 21495–21499.
- [217] Ting Wang, Daniele M. Gilkes, Naoharu Takano, Lisha Xiang, Weibo Luo, Corey J. Bishop, Pallavi Chaturvedi, Jordan J. Green, Gregg L. Semenza, Hypoxia-inducible factors and RAB22A mediate formation of microvesicles that stimulate breast cancer invasion and metastasis, PNAS 111 (31) (2014) E3234-E3242.